MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change



Uncertainty in Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Costs of Atmospheric Stabilization

Mort Webster, Sergey Paltsev, John Parsons, John Reilly, and Henry Jacoby

> Report No. 165 November 2008

The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change is an organization for research, independent policy analysis, and public education in global environmental change. It seeks to provide leadership in understanding scientific, economic, and ecological aspects of this difficult issue, and combining them into policy assessments that serve the needs of ongoing national and international discussions. To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established research centers at MIT: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers bridge many key areas of the needed intellectual work, and additional essential areas are covered by other MIT departments, by collaboration with the Ecosystems Center of the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole, and by short- and long-term visitors to the Program. The Program involves sponsorship and active participation by industry, government, and non-profit organizations.

To inform processes of policy development and implementation, climate change research needs to focus on improving the prediction of those variables that are most relevant to economic, social, and environmental effects. In turn, the greenhouse gas and atmospheric aerosol assumptions underlying climate analysis need to be related to the economic, technological, and political forces that drive emissions, and to the results of international agreements and mitigation. Further, assessments of possible societal and ecosystem impacts, and analysis of mitigation strategies, need to be based on realistic evaluation of the uncertainties of climate science.

This report is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of climate issues, thereby contributing to informed debate about the climate issue, the uncertainties, and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives. Titles in the Report Series to date are listed on the inside back cover.

Henry D. Jacoby and Ronald G. Prinn, *Program Co-Directors*

For more information,	please contact the Joint Program Office
Postal Address:	Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change 77 Massachusetts Avenue MIT E40-428 Cambridge MA 02139-4307 (USA)
Location:	One Amherst Street, Cambridge Building E40, Room 428 Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Access:	Phone: (617) 253-7492 Fax: (617) 253-9845 E-mail: globalchange@mit.edu Web site: http://mit.edu/globalchange/

Rrinted on recycled paper

Uncertainty in Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Costs of Atmospheric Stabilization

Mort Webster^{*†}, Sergey Paltsev^{*}, John Parsons^{*}, John Reilly^{*} and Henry Jacoby^{*}

Abstract

We explore the uncertainty in projections of emissions, and costs of atmospheric stabilization applying the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model, a computable general equilibrium model of the global economy. Monte Carlo simulation with Latin Hypercube Sampling is applied to draw 400 samples from probability distributions for 100 parameters in the EPPA model, including labor productivity growth rates, energy efficiency trends, elasticities of substitution, costs of advanced technologies, fossil fuel resource availability, and trends in emissions factors for urban pollutants. The resulting uncertainty in emissions and global costs is explored under a scenario assuming no climate policy and four different targets for stabilization of atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations. We find that most of the IPCC emissions scenarios are outside the 90% probability range of emissions in the absence of climate policy, and are consistent with atmospheric stabilization scenarios. We find considerable uncertainty in the emissions prices under stabilization. For example, the CO_2 price in 2060 under an emissions constraint targeted to achieve stabilization at 650 ppm has a 90% range of \$14 to \$88 per ton CO_{2} , and a 450 ppm target in 2060 has a range of \$241 to \$758. We also explore the relative contribution of uncertainty in different parameters to the resulting uncertainty in emissions and costs and find that, despite the significant uncertainty in future energy supply technologies, the largest drivers of uncertainty in costs of atmospheric stabilization are energy demand parameters, including elasticities of substitution and energy efficiency trends.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1.
2. THE EPPA MODEL AND UNCERTAIN PARAMETER DISTRIBUTIONS	3.
2.1 Emissions Projection And Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model	3.
2.2 Distributions For Uncertain Parameters	
2.2.1 Input distributions based on empirical analyses	5.
2.2.2 Distributions based on expert elicitation	
2.2.3 Correlation among parameters	
2.3 Policy Scenarios	29.
3. RESULTS	
3.1 Uncertainty In Emissions Projections	31.
3.2 Uncertainty In Costs Of Emissions Reductions	
3.3 Energy Consumption By Fuel And Technology	
3.4 Relative Contributions To Uncertainty	
3.5 Comparison With Previous Uncertainty Analysis Results	51.
4. DISCUSSION	53.
5. REFERENCES	56.

1. INTRODUCTION

We investigate the uncertainty in future emissions absent greenhouse gas mitigation, and of emissions and abatement costs under four scenarios of atmospheric stabilization taken from the recent analysis of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program (Clarke *et al.*, 2007). We follow a formal probabilistic approach (Parson *et al.*, 2007), providing an updated view of possible future

^{*} MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Cambridge, MA 02139

[†] Corresponding author (email: mort@mit.edu).

greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. We follow an approach similar to that of Webster *et al.* (2002), Scott *et al.* (1999), Manne and Richels (1994), Reilly *et al.* (1987), Edmonds and Reilly (1985), and Nordhaus and Yohe (1983), where Monte Carlo techniques are used to simulate a model hundreds of times with samples of parameter values drawn from input distributions to derive estimates of uncertainty for model output variables such as future emissions. The uncertain input variables govern factors that affect emissions growth and the cost of abatement, including labor productivity, population, technology costs, ease of substitution away from CO₂-emitting energy, and resource availability.

While there is considerable literature on uncertainty in future GHG emissions, less attention has been devoted to uncertainty in mitigation costs. Most cost studies have been deterministic (using reference values for model assumptions) supplemented by sensitivity tests of a limited number of key parameters (*e.g.*, Paltsev *et al.*, 2007; Weyant and Hill, 1999). Descriptions of cost uncertainty have been limited to meta-analyses of collections of studies (Barker *et al.*, 2007) which serve to highlight differences among models but do not deal with uncertainty in a formal sense. Given the interest in long-term targets, within international negotiations, and the heightened focus on uncertainty ranges by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, studies applying formal methods are called for.

Here such an analysis is developed using the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model, version 4 (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005), which is a recursive-dynamic computable general equilibrium model of the global economy. In the EPPA model, the world economy is represented as 16 regions, each with 21 economic sectors linked by domestic and international trade. Probability distributions are developed for more than 100 parameters of the model including correlations among them where appropriate. In contrast to previous work, we have statistically estimated uncertainty in many of the key model inputs, supplementing statistical approaches with expert judgment only where necessary. We sample from these distributions and simulate ensembles of scenarios to develop probabilistic descriptions of a selection of model outputs including emissions, carbon prices, and consumption loss. We also explore the relative contribution to uncertainty from subgroups of the model parameters.

A few clarifications are useful before proceeding. First, the EPPA model does not balance costs and benefits of controlling greenhouse gases to seek an optimal policy response. As applied here, there are no climate damages that feedback on the economy and so estimates of economic cost are those related only to mitigation. Using a classification applied by Weyant (2000), the EPPA model is a policy evaluation model, not a policy optimization model. Second, the exercise is constructed to be explicitly conditional on climate policy assumptions, asking what are the likely ranges of emissions and costs on the condition that there is either no climate policy or a goal of one or another global emissions control paths over time. Other approaches might attempt to explore the likelihood of the world undertaking such mitigation and sample from this policy uncertainty as part of the Monte Carlo exercise or assume a particular behavioral response (*i.e.* mitigation based on cost-benefit analysis). Finally, this study is of parametric uncertainty - the descriptions of uncertainty in results are conditional on the structure of the model as well as on

the assumed parameter distributions. However, evidence from past uncertainty work suggests that parametric uncertainty produces a wider range than the differences observed across models with similar baseline assumptions. Put another way, emissions scenarios and abatement cost estimates depend less on the specific structure of the model and more on the assumptions about technology, economic growth, resource availability, and progress on energy efficiency, which are the quantities explored here.

The EPPA model, the assumed uncertainty in parameters, and the Monte Carlo design are described in Section 2. Section 3 presents the results of the analysis, presenting uncertainty in future emissions and in costs under no policy and stabilization cases. We also compare the relative contribution to the uncertainty in these outcomes by different combinations of inputs. Section 4 discusses the key findings.

2. THE EPPA MODEL AND UNCERTAIN PARAMETER DISTRIBUTIONS

2.1 Emissions Projection and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model

The Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis Model (EPPA) is a recursive-dynamic general equilibrium model of the world economy developed by the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change. A full description of the model is presented in Paltsev *et al.* (2005). The EPPA model is built on the GTAP dataset (Hertel, 1997; Dimaranan and McDougall, 2002), which accommodates a consistent representation of energy markets in physical units as well as detailed data on regional production and bilateral trade flows. The economic data from GTAP are augmented with additional data on advanced technologies, greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide, CO₂; methane, CH₄; nitrous oxide, N₂O; hydrofluorocarbons, HFCs; perfluorocarbons, PFCs; and sulphur hexafluoride, SF₆) and air pollutants (sulfur dioxide, SO₂; nitrogen oxides, NO_x; black carbon, BC; organic carbon, OC; ammonia, NH₃; carbon monoxide, CO; and non-methane volatile organic compounds, VOC). The data are aggregated into the EPPA model's 16 regions and 21 sectors as shown in **Table 1**.

Much of the sectoral detail is focused on energy production to better represent advanced technological alternatives that are incorporated using bottom-up engineering detail. Advanced technologies enter endogenously when they become economically competitive with existing ones. Their competitiveness depends on endogenously determined prices for all inputs. These prices in turn depend on depletion of resources, economic policy, and other forces driving economic growth such as savings, investment, energy-efficiency improvements, and labor productivity. The model's production and consumption sectors are represented by nested Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) production functions (or the Cobb-Douglas and Leontief special cases of the CES). The base year of the EPPA model is 1997. From 2000 through 2100 it is solved recursively at 5-year intervals. The model is written in the GAMS software system and solved using MPSGE modeling language (Rutherford, 1995). EPPA has been used in a wide variety of applications (*e.g.*, Jacoby *et al.*, 1997; Reilly *et al.*, 1999; Babiker, Metcalf, and Reilly, 2003; Reilly and Paltsev, 2006; Clarke *et al.*, 2007; Paltsev *et al.*, 2007).

 Table 1. Sectors and regions in the EPPA model.

Sectors:	Country or Region:
Non-Energy	Developed
Agriculture (AGRI)	USA
Services (SERV)	Canada (CAN)
Energy-Intensive Products (EINT)	Japan (JPN)
Other Industries Products (OTHR)	European Union+ (EUR)
Industrial Transportation (TRANS)	Australia & New Zealand (ANZ)
Household Transportation (HTRANS)	Former Soviet Union (FSU)
Energy	Eastern Europe (EET)
Coal (COAL)	Developing
Crude Oil (OIL)	India (IND)
Refined Oil (ROIL)	China (CHN)
Natural Gas (GAS)	Indonesia (IDZ)
Electricity Generation	East Asia (ASI)
Fossil (ELEC)	Mexico (MEX)
Hydro (HYDRO)	Central & South America (LAM)
Nuclear (NUCL)	Middle East (MES)
Solar and Wind (SOLAR)	Africa (AFR)
Biomass (BIOELEC)	Rest of World (ROW)
Natural Gas Combined Cycle (NGCC)	
Natural Gas Combined Cycle	
with CO_2 Capture and Storage (NGCAP)	
Advanced Coal with CO ₂ Capture and Storage	
(IGCAP)	
Synthetic Gas from Coal (SYNGAS)	
Oil from Shale (SYNOIL)	
Liquid Fuel from Biomass (BIOOIL)	

Note: Agriculture, services, energy-intensive products, other-industries products, coal, crude oil, refined oil, and natural gas sectors are aggregated from GTAP data; industrial transportation and household transportation sectors are disaggregated as documented in Paltsev *et al.* (2004); hydropower, nuclear power and fossil-fuel electricity are disaggregated from the electricity sector (ELY) of the GTAP dataset using data from the International Energy Agency; solar and wind power, biomass electricity, natural gas combined cycle, natural gas combined cycle with CO₂ capture and storage, integrated coal gasification with CO₂ capture and storage, synthetic gas from coal, hydrogen from gas, hydrogen from coal, oil from shale, and liquid fuel from biomass are advanced technology sectors that do not exist explicitly in the GTAP dataset and are modeled as described in Paltsev *et al.* (2005); specific detail on regional grouping is provided in Paltsev *et al.* (2005).

2.2 Distributions for Uncertain Parameters

Previously an analysis was conducted of the sensitivity of the EPPA model to determine those parameters that contribute most to uncertainty in emissions and costs (Webster, *et al.*, 2002; Cossa, 2004). These parameters can be broadly divided into the following nine groups:

- Elasticities of Substitution
- GDP Growth (based on Labor Productivity Growth)
- Autonomous Energy Efficiency Improvement (AEEI)
- Fossil Fuel Resource Availability
- Population Growth
- Urban Pollutant Trends
- Future Energy Technologies
- Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gas Trends
- Capital Vintaging

Below, we detail the uncertainty distributions for each of these parameters and the sources and data from which they were constructed. Of these parameters, the uncertainty in the elasticities of substitution, GDP, AEEI, fossil resource availability, population growth rates, and urban pollution trends over time are based on statistical analyses of historical data. For the remaining parameters, the limits of available data and studies led us to use expert elicitation as the basis for input distributions.

2.2.1 Input distributions based on empirical analyses

2.2.1.1 Elasticities of Substitution

Production in EPPA is represented with nested Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) functions. Primary input factors include labor, capital, and an energy bundle made up of electricity, coal, oil, and natural gas. Intermediates are represented as fixed coefficient inputs. A schematic diagram of the production function for a typical sector is given in **Figure 1**.¹ These sectors and households are the source of energy demand in the economy. The elasticities of substitution at each level determine the relative ease of substituting one input for another, affecting the cost of emissions reduction policy.

¹ Refining and primary resource using sectors are structured differently as they include the resource (land, or energy resource) or the crude product as an additional input. Elasticities associated with resources affect energy supply and are discussed further below.



Figure 1. Example of the nest structure for production sectors in EPPA: parameters that govern energy demand (and abatement costs) are substitution elasticities for energy—non-energy, σ EVA; labor-capital, σ VA; electricity-fuels, σ ENOE; and that among fuels, σ EN.

To construct distributions we use the standard errors from published studies that estimate the value of elasticities of substitution. The constructed distributions are assumed to be normal with a median of 1.0 to describe uncertainty relative to the reference values in EPPA. Thus, the EPPA reference value is retained as the median. The main issue that arises in this construction is how to use the variety of estimates in the literature. Elasticity concepts differ (*e.g.*, Allen versus Morishima elasticities; see Blackorby and Russell, 1989), often econometric studies do not apply the CES function used in EPPA but prefer more "flexible" forms such as the translog, and the level of aggregation can affect the estimated elasticity value. In our survey of the literature, we find that the relative standard errors across different studies are of similar magnitude. Thus, rather than attempt to aggregate across studies, we have in general based our distributions for different elasticities on the most recent effort, and where possible on those that use a functional form and level of aggregation that is most similar to that used in EPPA.

Among the elasticities of substitution shown in Figure 1, the critical ones are labor vs. capital, interfuel substitution within the non-electric energy bundle, interfuel substitution between electricity and other fuels, and substitution between the energy bundle and the value-added (labor and capital) bundle. For the labor-capital elasticities we rely on a study by Balistreri *et al.* (2003) in which they use U.S. data on 28 disaggregated industries to estimate the elasticity of substitution (**Table 2**). For the interfuel substitution elasticities estimated by translog and dynamic logit functions. We use the long-run estimates from their dynamic logit, which they show to be the more robust formulation (**Table 3**). We calculate the relative standard errors of the cross-price elasticities, which are proportional to the substitution elasticities. While the Figure 1 production

structure includes all fuels and crude oil in the fuels nest, in reality the shares for several are zero or near zero for many sectors. For most sectors, substitution between Refined Oil (ROIL) and Natural Gas (GAS) is the only relevant pair because little coal and no crude oil is used directly. We therefore assume a standard error of $\pm 15\%$ as estimated by Urga and Waters (2003) (See Table 3) for uncertainty in this elasticity for households and for all production sectors except Electricity (ELEC) and Energy-Intensive (EINT). The electric vs. non-electric elasticity uncertainty is also assumed to have a standard error of $\pm 15\%$, consistent with the estimate for electricity substitution with fuels (Table 3). In the Electricity (ELEC) and Energy-Intensive (EINT) sectors, coal plays a substantial role. For these sectors we use a standard error of $\pm 40\%$, which is consistent with the Urga and Waters (2003) estimate for coal-oil and coal-gas substitution.

The energy vs. value-added (capital and labor bundle) elasticity is also a critical assumption in EPPA. While much of the empirical literature estimates three or four-factor (*i.e.* KLEM) translog or similar functional forms, relatively recent work by Kemfert (1998) and Kemfert and Welsch (2000) (see **Table 4**) use a CES function in a nest structure that directly estimates an energy-capital/labor elasticity. We use the standard error from the more recent 2000 study, which is $\pm 30\%$. This assumption is consistent with the relative error in energy-capital and energy-labor substitution elasticities as estimated by Koetse *et al.* (2007) and Medina and Vega-Cervera (2001), which both find uncertainty ranges between 20% and 40% of the best estimate.

	EPPA Sector						
Fractile	AGRI	ENOE	ELEC	EINT	OTHR	SERV	TRAN
5%	0.03	0.7	0.67	0.72	0.59	1.01	0.67
50%	0.31	0.81	0.99	1.1	1.17	1.51	0.89
95%	1.13	0.93	1.31	1.48	1.76	2.01	1.12

Table 2. Labor-Capital Substitution Elasticity Uncertainty.

Source: Balistreri et al. (2003).

Note: ENOE = Energy sectors other than electricity generation.

	Cc	al	Oil		Ga	S	Ele	c.
	Est.	Std. Err.	Est.	Std. Err.	Est.	Std. Err.	Est.	Std. Err.
Coal			0.5259	0.044	-0.3061	0.0430	0.1577	0.018
Oil	0.1002	0.040			0.2357	0.0333	0.0530	0.006
Gas	-0.1243	0.049	0.5020	0.042			0.2751	0.032
Elec.	0.0377	0.015	0.0665	0.006	0.1622	0.023		
Relative	Errors							
	Coal	Oil	Gas	Elec				
Coal		0.08	0.14	0.11				
Oil	0.40		0.14	0.11				
Gas	0.39	0.08		0.12				
Elec	0.40	0.09	0.14					
Source: U	rga and Walt	ers (2003)						

Table 3. Interfuel Substitution Elasticity Uncertainty.

Long-Run Cross-Price Elasticities

 Table 4. Energy vs. Non-Energy Substitution Elasticity Uncertainty.

	Estimate	Std. Err.	Relative Err.
Kemfert (1998)	1.18	0.61	0.52
Kemfert and Welsch (2000)	0.43	0.13	0.29

2.2.1.2 GDP and Labor Productivity Growth

The primary driver of GDP growth in the EPPA model is the exogenously specified growth in labor productivity. Previous studies (Webster et al., 2002; Manne and Richels, 1994; Scott et al., 1999; Edmonds and Reilly, 1985) have used expert judgment to construct probability distributions of future growth in labor productivity or GDP. Here, we use econometric forecasting techniques to estimate the uncertainty in future GDP from past GDP growth. We believe this has significant advantages over expert judgment because there appears to be bias in how experts form opinions about GDP growth and its uncertainty. In particular, the information experts are most familiar with is annual GDP growth for individual countries. Yet in EPPA many of the regions are multi-country areas. Moreover, previous studies derived their estimates from a distribution of growth rates that were applied for the entire century. Expectations about variability of GDP for individual countries are poor indicators of variability for large multicountry regions where poor economic performance in one country is likely to be balanced by average or very good performance in others. We expect, and the historical data confirm, much less variability in growth for multi-country regions than for any of the countries that compose the region. In addition, annual variation in GDP, driven by cyclical economic behavior and response to exogenous shocks, does not provide direct information on the range of long run growth

possibilities. Again, analysis of the data showed, not surprisingly, that five-year growth rates were less variable than one-year growth rates, and ten-year growth rates less variable still (see also Webster and Cho, 2006).

Thus here we simulate growth as a stochastic process where growth prospects are derived for each 5-year EPPA period. The 5-year growth rates are formulated to match the variability obtained from historical data where an economy's 5-year performance is the result of annual performance for which we have good data. Moreover, we use data for the exact regional aggregations we have in EPPA, and so the variation in growth in multi-country regions matches that of those regions historically.

At issue in moving to this formulation was the exact specification of the stochastic growth process. There is a long-running debate in the economics literature (see Stock and Watson, 1988) as to whether variability in economic time series is due to variability in the long-run trend, short-term transient or mean-reverting variability, or some combination of both. Several studies have estimated a structural model with both components (*e.g.*, Harvey and Todd, 1983; Harvey, 1985). In this study, we fit the long-run trend in GDP growth of each region as a random walk with drift. In future work, we will explore the implications of assuming that GDP growth is the sum of a random walk process and a trend-stationary process.

We use historical GDP per capita growth measurements, based on GDP and population data from Maddison (2003). Growth rates are determined by first aggregating GDP and population for all countries in each region (see Paltsev *et al.* (2005) for region definitions). Then the drift term (mean) and shock (standard deviation) are estimated from the time series for each region (**Table 5**). We estimate the standard deviation based on GDP per capita annual growth rates from 1950-2000 for all regions.²

Forward projections of EPPA are conducted by applying the estimated uncertainty in growth rates to labor productivity growth (LPG) rates in the EPPA model. Because future growth rates will not necessarily be the same as in the past, we assume that the median trend for each region is the original productivity growth rate in the EPPA reference simulation (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005). In other words, the drift term in the random walk procedure is based on EPPA reference growth rates, not the estimated historical mean rate. The random walk generates sample paths in one-year steps from 2010 to 2100. The growth rates for each 5-year step in these sample paths are used as the sample inputs to EPPA, consistent with the model time step (see Webster and Cho, 2006). Finally, the labor productivity growth rates, which are the relevant uncertain parameters in EPPA, are calibrated to produce the desired GDP per capita growth rate (an output of the EPPA model) assuming all other parameters at reference values. The simulated GDP growth of

² While data is available for some countries from 1920 or earlier, consistent estimates of variability across regions requires the restriction to years for which data is available for all countries, which is limited to the period of 1950-2000. Using data from earlier years, which include major economic disruptions, for some countries and not others would produce unrealistic biases in the relative variability (*e.g.*, greater volatility in U.S. and Europe than in many developing countries).

		1950-2000 %)	Projected Annual Averag Growth Rate (%) 2000-21		
Region	Mean	Std Dev	0.05	0.5	0.95
USA	2.2	2.3%	1.7	2.1	2.5
CAN	2.3	2.3%	1.7	2.1	2.5
MEX	2.2	5.2%	1.2	2.1	2.9
JPN	4.9	3.5%	1.7	2.2	2.7
ANZ	2.0	1.8%	2.0	2.3	2.6
EUR	2.8	1.6%	1.9	2.1	2.4
EET	1.1	3.9%	2.1	2.8	3.3
FSU	1.1	5.3%	2.0	2.8	3.7
ASI	4.3	4.7%	1.8	2.6	3.3
CHN	4.3	3.7%	2.5	3.1	3.7
IND	2.3	2.7%	2.3	2.7	3.1
IDZ	2.7	5.0%	1.1	2.6	3.9
AFR	1.0	1.8%	2.0	2.3	2.6
MES	2.3	3.3%	1.5	2.1	2.6
LAM	1.7	2.0%	1.7	2.1	2.5
ROW	2.2	3.5%	1.7	2.3	2.8
GLOBAL			2.2	2.4	2.6

Table 5. Mean and Standard Deviation of Historical Per-Capita GDP Growth Rates, and the 5%, median, and 95% projected average annual growth rates for 2000-2100.

an economy over the century in any one of the sampled runs is thus the result of a random walk of varying growth over each 5-year time step of the model. Note that the resulting GDP growth with all inputs varying simultaneously will have a slightly larger variance (see results in Section 3).

An additional assumption is the degree of correlation in GDP shocks across regions. Note that the relevant quantity to correlate is not the mean growth rate (the drift term in the random walk); all countries are assumed to grow over time. Rather, it is the independent shocks (excursions from the mean) to the growth rates that we want to explore for correlation across regions. Empirical estimation of the correlation of variability in historical GDP growth rates from 1950 to 2000 finds no statistically significant correlation between countries and groups of countries, although we recognize the time series is relatively short (Webster and Cho, 2006). Lacking specific evidence for correlation, we assume that the shock to each region's growth is independent of the shocks to other regions for that same time period.

A good way to see the implications of this approach is to examine the GDP growth results from the sampling approach, shown for the U.S. in **Figure 2**. The projections shown are the 5^{th} , 50^{th} , and 95^{th} percentiles from the sample of 400 paths. As a result of our assumption of

historical volatility and mean growth from the EPPA reference, the median projection is not necessarily a smooth continuation of the last half of the 20^{th} century, but the 90% probability bounds reflect the past variability. Graphs equivalent to Figure 2 for all 16 regions in EPPA are given in Appendix A. Also, note that the 5th, 50th, and 95th growth rates are for each period. Because century-long growth is composed of stochastic growth for each 5-year period, no single sample run has 95th or 5th (or 50th) percentile growth in every period.

The uncertainty in GDP growth rates for each region and for the global aggregate are described in Table 5 in terms of the average annual percentage growth rate over 2000-2100. We give the 5th, 50th, and 95th percentiles of the projected growth rates. Note that the variability in century-long growth for any region exhibits less variability than in any 5-year time period. Further, global growth is less variable than any individual region due to the absence of correlation in growth shocks described above, with a 5-95% range of 2.2% to 2.6%. In contrast, our previous study (Webster *et al.*, 2002) applied PDFs of labor productivity growth obtained from expert elicitation, and assumed perfect correlation across regions. That study had a 5-95% range of global GDP growth of 1.7% to 2.5%. Our revised approach more realistically allows for the relative performance of different regions to vary and for a region's 100-year growth record to be composed of periods of relatively rapid and relatively slow growth. Even with much more variability in a country or region's performance over time or relative to other regions, the global growth is far less variable. As we will demonstrate in the results section, our current approach reduces somewhat the relative contribution of GDP uncertainty to uncertainty in emissions and costs.



Figure 2. Historical and projected GDP per capita growth rates for the United States. Projections are shown for the 5th, 50th, and 95th percentiles in each period.

2.2.1.3 Autonomous Energy Efficiency Improvement

EPPA assumes an exogenous rate of energy efficiency improvement, as do many other models used for emissions projections (Azar and Dowlatabadi, 1999; Manne *et al.*, 1995; Scott *et al.*, 1999; Sands, 2004). This parameter is necessary to account for the historical pattern of energy consumption, which cannot be fully explained by changes in energy prices and growth in the size of the economy.

We use historical data to provide a measure of the uncertainty in the AEEI. To do so we used U.S. GDP data from the Penn World Tables (PWT), version 6.1 (Heston *et al.*, 2002), energy consumption data from the Energy Information Administration (EIA, 2002), and energy price data are from the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2004). Energy price data are only available from 1970 onward, limiting our investigation to the period 1970-2000. The data includes prices for crude oil, natural gas, coal, and electricity. We combine these price series into a divisia price index by weighting each fuel by its value share of total energy. Quantities of each fuel used for non-electric and electric are also obtained from EIA (2002).

We specify a simple aggregate model after those widely used in demand modeling (*e.g.*, Bohi, 1981; Yatchew and No, 2001; Li and Maddala, 1999) where the good's own-price and GDP are the main explanatory factors and we allow for an additional time trend effect—the residual AEEI:

 $\ln E_t = \alpha + \beta \ln P_{t-1} + \theta \ln GDP_{t-1} + \gamma t + \varepsilon$ (1)

where E_t is aggregate energy use, P_{t-1} is the aggregate energy price, GDP_{t-1} is the Gross Domestic Product, α , β , θ , and γ are estimated parameters, ε is the error term, and "ln" is the natural logarithm. In this logged form parameters are directly interpretable as elasticities. All price effects (reduced use within a sector and shifts among sectors) should be captured by the price variable, eliminating the problem in highly disaggregated models that some of the shift may reflect changing prices of the sectoral output resulting from the changing energy input price. If a growing economy exhibited constant returns to scale (CRS) we would expect $\theta=1$. To the extent that structural change occurs with growth in GDP, shifting the economy toward rising or falling energy intensity either directly in final consumption or indirectly through non-price structural shifts in the economy, that structural shift will be captured by $\theta >$ or <1.

Econometric evidence indicates that the short-term price effect differs from the effect in the long-term (Bohi, 1981). Explanations range from short-term irreversibilities of the capital stock, other inertia in consumer response, expectations, and even potential price-induced technical change. A common approach for estimating long run effects is to introduce a lagged dependent variable, the Koyck lag transformation (Kmenta, 1971), but this means that the lagged response applies equally to all independent variables.

The Koyck transformation eliminates the problem of explicitly including prior period data on independent variables such as in a geometric lag distribution

 $E_{t-1} = \alpha + \beta_0 (P_{t-2} + \lambda P_{t-3} + \lambda^2 P_{t-4} + \cdots) + \varepsilon_t$ where $0 \le \lambda < 1$, by observing that E_{t-1} captures the early year effects of independent variables. Thus, the Koyck transformation is: ln $E_t = \alpha(1-\lambda) + \lambda \ln E_{t-1} + \beta(1-\lambda) \ln P_{t-1} + \theta(1-\lambda) \ln GDP_{t-1} + \gamma(1-\lambda)t + \eta_t$ (2) where $\eta_t = \varepsilon_t - \lambda \varepsilon_{t-1}$, λ is the strength of the lag effect. The directly estimated parameters are the short-run response and, as shown in Kmenta (1971), include the factor (1- λ). The long run effect is thus derived by dividing the estimated parameter by that factor. We estimate equation (1) (**Table 6**) and equation (2) (**Table 7**) with different omissions and restrictions on the estimated parameters.

Equation (1) results in an estimate of the price elasticity of energy demand (β) that is statistically significant and robust across the specifications, ranging from -0.22 to -0.24, and is consistent with estimates of the aggregate economy's short-run price elasticity (Bohi (1981), especially Table 3-1). Neither the GDP nor the residual time trend is significantly different than zero. The estimated values show a weak effect of GDP and show the residual time trend to be slightly energy using. The main reason for this is that GDP and time are highly correlated (correlation = 0.99). Dropping the time trend (specification 2) produces a significant coefficient on the GDP elasticity but still considerably weaker than a constant returns to scale value of 1.0. With the formulation restricted to be CRS (specification 3), the AEEI is 2.0 percent per year.

Considering the Koyck transformation (Table 7) produces a statistically significant and large lag effect when the GDP elasticity is unrestricted (specifications 1-2). The estimated values of 0.60 to 0.77 mean that the long run response is 2.5 to nearly 4.5 times larger than the short run response. The time trend in this formulation is significant and suggests an energy-using bias but the GDP elasticity is insignificant. Restricting the GDP elasticity to CRS (specification 3) produces a smaller lag effect and an AEEI that somewhat above 2% per year not that dissimilar from the CRS specification without the lag. The most robust result across these formulations is the price elasticity, which is consistently inelastic. With the lag effect in specifications 1 and 2, the estimated short-run price elasticity is less than half the value without the lag (-0.08 to -0.11) Thus, even with the strong lag effect, the long run price elasticity is only about 30 to 50 percent larger (rather than 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ to 4 $\frac{1}{2}$ times) than without the lag.

The strong correlation between GDP and time makes it nearly impossible to estimate separate effects. In considering applications to the EPPA model, its production function approach produces a model that, except for some shifting consumption shares, is a constant returns to scale representation of the economy. In the lagged effects model, while the estimated value of the AEEI varies depending on the specification, the standard errors of the estimates are consistently in the 30% and 40% range, relative to the best estimate. As in other cases we assume a normal distribution, normalized to a mean of 1.0 and a standard deviation of 0.4, and apply the sampled value as a multiplicative factor for the regionally varying AEEIs as specified in EPPA. We assume the AEEI is driven in part by technology which would be to some extent commonly available across the world. We therefore impose a correlation of 0.9 among sampled values for all regions.

The reference assumptions in the EPPA model differentiate the rate of AEEI among regions and between non-energy and energy sectors of the economy (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005). The EPPA assumptions for AEEI among the Annex B countries are based on Edmonds and Reilly (1985)

and Azar and Dowlatabadi (1999). They imply an energy efficiency improvement in the electric sector of 0.40 % to 0.45 % per year while non-electric sectors increase in energy efficiency by 1.2% to 1.3% per year. This pattern is different for developing countries, which have shown little reduction in energy intensity and in some cases even increased in intensity. To follow the historic pattern for developing economies we assume a gradual decrease in AEEI — i.e. worsening rather than improving energy efficiency — through the next few decades and energy efficiency improvement later in the century. We assume that the median path of AEEI for each region is the reference assumption for that region. The uncertainty, sampled for each region with correlation among other regions, is then applied to scale the time path of energy efficiency up or down relative to the median path.

2.2.1.4 Fossil Fuel Resource Availability

All fossil energy resources are modeled in EPPA4 as graded resources whose cost of production rises as they are depleted. The production structure for fossil energy sectors, plus the depletion model and representations of backstop technologies, completely describe fossil fuel production. Two critical values are the total physical amount of the resource and the elasticity of substitution between the resource and other inputs in the production function. The latter determines the cost increase as depletion occurs. The full description of the resource model and reference values for the available resources of each type in each region and the elasticity values are given in Paltsev *et al.* (2005).

		Estimated Parameters (Standard errors)					
Specification (eq. 1)	α Constant	β Price elasticity	θ GDP elasticity	γ Residual time trend	AEEI % per year	R ² % Variance Explained	
1. All	10.4 (6.1)	-0.23 ^{**} (0.040)	0.30 (0.21)	0.0013 (0.0066)	-0.13 (0.66)	0.90	
2. Const, Pr, GDP	9.2 ^{**} (0.58)	-0.23 ^{**} (0.040)	0.34 ^{**} (0.021)	-	-	0.90	
3 . (θ=1)	-9.8 ^{**} (0.21)	-0.24 ^{**} (0.047)	1	-0.0206 ^{**} (0.00080)	2.0 (0.08)	-	

Table 6. Energy consumption as function of price, GDP, and time effects.

** Significant at p<0.05 level

	Estimated Parameters (Standard errors)					Calculated Values			
Specif- ication (eq. 2)	α Const.	β Price elas. (short- run)	θ Inc. elas.	γ Residual time trend	λ Lag in dep. variable	Long- run AEEI % per year	Long- run price elas.	Long- run GDP elas.	
1. LAG, Pr,	13.4	-0.082^{+}	-0.31	0.012**	0.77**	-5.5	-0.35	-1.3	
GDP, t	(4.5)	(0.043)	(0.20)	(0.0054)	(0.16)	(2.5)			
2. LAG, Pr, GDP	3.5 ^{**} (1.5)	-0.11 ^{**} (0.044)	0.14 ^{**} (0.055)	-	0.60^{**} (0.16)	-	-0.29	0.36	
3 . (θ=1)	-11.7 ^{**} (3.8)	-0.22 ^{**} (0.061)	1	-0.022 ^{**} (0.002)	0.10 (0.20)	2.4 (0.24)	-0.24	1.1	

Table 7. Energy consumption as function of price, GDP, and time with lagged effects.

⁺Significant at p<0.1 level; ^{**}Significant at p<0.05 level

As a data source for the uncertainty in the available resources, we rely on the most recent global resource assessment by the U.S. Geological Survey (Ahlbrandt *et al.*, 2005). The report gives a detailed assessment of fossil resources in terms of undiscovered, reserve growth, remaining reserves, and cumulative production for geologic formations in all regions except the U.S., which was previously assessed in Gautier *et al.* (1996). A Monte Carlo analysis is used to assess the uncertainty in global aggregate resources, and is reported in terms of 5th and 95th percentiles (**Table 8**). For uncertainty in the global resources in EPPA, we use the 5th and 95th percentiles relative to the median for the world excluding the U.S., which gives a range of 40% to 175% of the median value. We again normalize the distribution to retain as the median value the reference regional resources of 0.9 (*i.e.* less global crude oil available for use implies that there is also less global natural gas resource in the ground). Similarly detailed assessments for shale oil are not available. We assume one standard deviation bounds of 50% and 200%. The normalized probability density functions for fossil resources are shown in **Figure 3a**.

With regard to the supply elasticity, Dahl and Duggan (1996) provide a detailed survey of the literature. They find a wide range of estimated elasticities, from 0.41 to 7.90 across coal, oil and natural gas with a best estimate of 1.27. Similar ranges are reported for coal supply elasticities by the IEA (1995) and for oil and natural gas by Krichene (2002). We assume a probability distribution for the supply elasticities as shown in **Figure 3b**, ranging from 0.5 to 2.0. Each fuel is sampled independently from this distribution (*i.e.* no correlation).

				Oil Barrels)		(ral Gas Cubic Fee	t)
		F95	F50	F5	Mean	F95	F50	F5	Mean
	Undiscovered Conv.	334	607	1107	649	2299	4333	8174	4669
	Reserve Growth	100	610	1001	610	10.40	2205	5540	2205
World	(conv.)	192	612	1031	612	1049	3305	5543	3305
Excluding U.S.	Remaining Reserves				859				4621
0.01	Cum. Production				539				898
	Total	526	1219	2138	2659	3348	7638	13717	13493
	Relative to Median	43%		175%		44%		180%	
	Undiscovered Conv.	66		104	83	393		698	527
	Reserve Growth (conv.)				76				355
U.S.	Remaining Reserves				32				172
	Cum. Production				171				854
	Total	345		383	362	1774		2079	1908
	Relative to Mean	95%		106%		93%		109%	

 Table 8. Uncertainty in Available Supply of Fossil Fuels.

Source: Ahlbrandt et al., 2005

Note: Blanks are shown where results were not provided in the original source.



Figure 3. PDFs for (a) total fossil resources available for depletion, and (b) price elasticity of supply for fossil fuels.

2.2.1.5 Population Growth

The uncertainty in population growth is taken from World Population Prospects: the 2006 Revision (UN, 2007). The UN projections consist of a medium, a high, and a low case projection to 2050. The relative likelihood of these scenarios is not given; for the purposes of developing a probability density function, we assume that the high and low cases (**Figure 4**) represent one standard deviation about the medium case, which is taken to be the median (**Figure 5**). We apply each sample of population growth to 2050, relative to the reference growth rate, to the reference growth path for each region. This procedure generates population growth for the world as shown in Figure 4. The assumption that the population growth rate uncertainty is perfectly correlated across regions is an extreme one; however as shown in the results below, population growth even under this assumption has only a weak influence on emissions and cost uncertainties.



Figure 4. Shaded regions show the 50% (darker) and 90% (lighter) ranges of the EPPA population projections to 2100, and lines show the UN population projections to 2050 (source: UN, 2007).



Figure 5. PDF of global population in 2050.

2.2.1.6 Urban Pollutant Trends

 $F_{i,j,t} = F_{i,j,0} \exp(\gamma_j t)$

One area of significant improvement to the treatment of uncertainty, compared with our earlier study (Webster *et al.*, 2002), is in the parameters of the urban pollutant emissions (See Mayer *et al*, 2000 for details on urban emissions modeling in EPPA3). Here we take advantage of an approach developed by Stern (2006, 2005; Stern and Common, 2001) in which he uses observed emissions to estimate a stochastic emissions frontier. Hence, we model the emissions of urban pollutants with an activity-specific emissions factor as in previous versions, relating the economic activity in each economic sector of the model to the emissions produced of each substance. However, we now model the evolution of these factors over time according to:

(3)

where $F_{i,j,t}$ is the emissions factor for economic sector *i*, pollutant *j*, and time *t*, $F_{i,j,0}$ is the emissions factor in the initial year, and γ_j is the uncertain trend parameter for pollutant *j*.

The uncertainty in the time trend γ for SO₂ is based on data and analysis by Stern (2006, 2005; Stern and Common, 2001), in which he uses observed emissions to estimate a stochastic emissions frontier for 15 different countries. We estimate the global trend in emissions consistent with his range of estimated emissions frontiers projected over the next century. The mean trend for SO₂ is consistent with a value for γ in equation 1 of -0.03, with a standard deviation of 0.1. The fitted PDF is shown in **Figure 6**.

The trend for NO_x is revised from that of SO_2 based on the expert judgment of the authors. Unlike SO_2 , which has both straightforward end-of-pipe options for removal from exhaust flows and options for substituting low-sulfur fuels, NO_x is much more difficult to either remove or to prevent from forming during combustion. Therefore the prospects for reducing global NO_x emissions from activities that combust fossil fuels are less likely than they are from SO_2 . We modify the distribution of the time trend parameter for NO_x to span a range (with 95% probability) of global emissions that stabilize at 2000 levels to growth at nearly double the rate in reference EPPA projections. The PDF for the NO_x parameter is shown in Figure 6.

For other urban pollutants, for which there is much less data and fewer available studies of time trends, we assign either the SO₂ or the NO_x time trend distributions as appropriate. We assume that black and organic carbon have end-of-pipe removal options similar to SO₂, and use the SO₂ trend distribution. All other urban pollutants, VOC, CO, and NH₃, are similar to NO_x in the difficulty of prevention during combustion or removal from exhaust flows, and we assume the NO_x time trend distribution. We assume that the uncertainties in urban emissions trends are perfectly correlated across all regions.



Time Trend Parameter for Urban Pollutant (γ)

Figure 6. Probability density functions assumed for the time trend parameters for urban pollutants.

2.2.2 Distributions Based on Expert Elicitation

2.2.2.1 Expert Elicitation Methodology

The distributions assumed for the remaining uncertainty parameters – future energy technology/fuel costs, costs of methane and nitrous oxide abatement, and capital stock vintaging – are based on expert elicitation. Here, we briefly review the methodology used to perform these assessments, and then present the elicited data and resulting distributions.

Expert elicitation is not always straightforward: it relies on probabilistic judgments that can be biased (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Morgan and Henrion, 1990). It also requires using judgments from multiple experts who often disagree. Various protocols have been developed to address these difficulties including the Stanford/SRI assessment protocol (Staël von Holstein and Matheson, 1979) and the Morgan-Henrion (1990) protocol. Both of these define clear steps to follow.

1) Introduction/Motivation: Both of the above protocols begin with a short "motivating" phase during which experts are explained the background of the analysis (why are we interested in doing an uncertainty analysis on this parameter?).

2) Technological discussion: Morgan and Henrion include a phase prior to the elicitation itself during which experts explain their view on how to approach the issue: what would be the most convenient way to define the parameter, how could we model the uncertainty.

3) "Structuring" the elicitation: Experts come to a consensus on an unambiguous form of the quantity to be assessed so that they will be able to give reliable judgments on its uncertainty. In this phase is also useful to make clear what sort of data they will be asked to provide and to familiarize them with probabilistic vocabulary.

4) The "conditioning" phase: This phase helps experts think in terms of cognitive biases or judgment anchoring. Morgan and Henrion advise a review of the psychological literature related to issues associated with expert elicitation to help experts become more aware of the kind of biases that may affect their judgments.

5) The "encoding" phase: The key part of the process, encoding consists of asking experts to provide characteristics of the probability distribution function that provide the basis for fully specifying it later. This may consist of asking experts to give a low and a high-end point (the 5% and 95% fractiles for example) and then to ask them for the median (the 50% fractiles). Another possibility is to ask for the two extremes (the 0% and 100% fractiles), the mode (most likely value) and a level of variance. Each expert may use a different methods as long as information is obtained that is sufficient to later compare PDFs obtained from different experts.

6) The "verifying" phase: Experts can be asked about scenarios that would lead to different values than the one predicted. Detail reasoning and explanation of all the assumptions behind a judgment will help the thinking process. Finally one should try to obtain redundant information in order to check the coherence of each judgment.

7) Combining PDFs: One can require the experts to come to a consensus (Dalkey, 1967) or mathematically combine the results (Genest and Zidek, 1986; Clemen and Winkler, 1999) by for

example weighting equally each prediction. We chose in this paper to combine the different assessments.

In the elicitations performed for this analysis, we presented to our experts a simple protocol that tried to gather all the phases described before. The protocol used in the elicitations for this paper was composed of five stages:

- Introduction: explain the purpose of the meeting.
- Choice of parameter:
 - Define exactly the parameter. Is everyone comfortable with it? Would anyone know an easier way to think about it?
 - Specify that each parameter will be analyzed independently from others
 - Begin with a specific country/sector
- Double-checking: has this job been done before? Are there any other elicitation studies available on this quantity?
- Elicitation: high end / low end / median (recursive step)
 - Write down the first estimate. Give ways to easily figure out what you are asking for:
 - High/Low estimates = 19 chances out of 20 it is not higher/lower
 - Median = half of the potential values are lower/half higher
 - Scenario linking:
 - To which scenario does this value correspond?
 - Could you think of any scenario that would lead to a higher/lower value?
 - Can you think of reasons that lower/higher values are not possible?
 - Output checking: ask for an output that would result from these estimates
 - Calibration with other experts/consistency with current model
 - Scope extension: without any additional elicitation, is it possible to apply these estimates to other sectors/countries?
- Compile estimates: do experts accept that their estimates will be compiled with the others to have a single PDF?

Before the interview, in order to give experts a broader view of the process they were about to go through, each was given the chart in **Figure 7**, summarizing the different stages to show in a clear way the recursive process of writing down estimates. The methodology for these expert elicitations are described in more detail in Cossa (2004).



Figure 7. Diagram of Expert Elicitation Process for Uncertainty Judgments.

2.2.2.2 Future Energy Technologies

Projections of energy and emissions data are highly dependent on the deployment of advanced technologies. These technologies endogenously enter if and when they become economically competitive with existing technologies. Competitiveness of different technologies depends on the endogenously determined prices for all inputs, as those prices depend on depletion of resources, climate policy, and other forces driving economic growth such as the savings, investment, and the productivity of labor. These advanced technology options are summarized in **Table 10**. Three technologies produce substitutes for conventional fossil fuels (gas from coal, a crude oil product from shale oil, and a refined fuel from biomass). The remaining five are electricity generation technologies (biomass, wind and solar, natural gas combined cycle with and without carbon capture and sequestration, and advanced coal with carbon capture and sequestration).

Each advanced technology is represented with a nested production structure similar to the conventional technology with which it competes. We identify a multiplicative mark-up factor that describes the cost of the advanced technology relative to the existing technology against which it competes in the base year. This markup is multiplied by input share parameters in the production function of the advanced technology so that the cost shares, at base year prices, no longer add up to 1.0. Thus, as this sum greater or less than 1.0, the technology is more or less costly than the technology against which it directly competes in base year prices. The reference assumptions for each mark-up factor are given in Paltsev *et al.* (2005).

Cossa (2004) performed the elicitation on five backstop technologies: synf-oil, gasified coal, natural gas combined cycle with (NGCC) and without carbon capture (NGCAP) and finally

advanced coal with sequestration (IGCAP). He asked experts about their uncertainty in capital and labor markup factors for these technologies. He consulted five different experts: Professor Henry Jacoby, Dr. Sergey Paltsev and Dr. John Reilly for fossil backstops and Mr. Howard Herzog and Mr. Jim McFarland for combined cycle and carbon capture backstops. The elicited fractiles are given in **Table 9**. The fractiles from the different experts were then averaged, and the averaged fractiles used to construct probability density functions, with mean and standard deviations given in Table 10.

As noted by Jacoby *et al.* (2006) observations on penetration rates for new technology typically show a gradual penetration, for which there are numerous contributing factors. EPPA4 replicates the penetration behavior that is typically observed by endowing the representative agent with a small amount of a specialized resource. The endowment of this resource grows as a function of output in the previous period. Capacity expansion is thus constrained in any period by the amount of this fixed factor resource and the ability to substitute other inputs for it. As output expands over time the endowment is increased, and it eventually is not a significant limitation on capacity expansion. The rate of penetration as a function of the previous period's capacity is also treated as uncertain, with mean and standard deviation indicated in Table 10.

Wind and solar sources of electricity supply are treated differently in the model and required different treatment in the uncertainty analysis. Wind and solar are represented as imperfect substitutes for conventional electricity supply, in order to represent the intermittency of the resource. This is represented with an elasticity of substitution between the output from the wind and solar and the output of other electricity supply technologies. Choice of the substitution elasticity creates an implicit supply elasticity of wind in terms of the share of electricity supplied by the technology. Thus, this elasticity is the key parameter that describes the potential extent of penetration of this electricity source. The uncertainty in the elasticity of substitution is given in Table 10, and is based on Cheng (2004).

	Fractile	Expert 1	Expert 2	Expert 3
Synthetic Oil	5%	2.0	2.1	2.5
Markup	50%	3.5	4.3	4.3
	95%	5.0	5.8	6.0
Coal	5%	3.4	1.9	3.9
Gasification	50%	4.3	3.0	5.2
Markup	95%	6.5	6.5	6.9
		Expert 4	Expert 5	
Advanced Coal	5%	1.1	1.1	
with Carbon	50%	1.1	1.2	
Capture	95%	1.4	1.3	
Natural Gas	5%	1.1	1.1	
with Carbon	50%	1.2	1.2	
Capture	95%	1.3	1.2	
Natural Gas	5%	0.8	0.9	
Combined	50%	0.9	0.9	
Cycle	95%	1.0	1.0	

Table 9. Fractiles for Advanced Technology Markup Factors from Expert Elicitation.

 Table 10. Uncertainty in Advanced Energy Technology Assumptions.

Input Factor Markups	Mean	Std. Dev.
Shale Oil	3.20	0.77
Coal Gas	3.94	0.82
Advanced Coal with CCS	1.18	0.10
Advanced Gas with CCS	1.15	0.05
Advanced Gas without CCS	0.90	0.04
Bio-Oil	3.94	0.82
Bio-Electric	3.94	0.82
Elasticity of Substitution		
Wind and solar	0.25	0.20
Penetration Rates		
New Tech Penetration Rate	2.25	1.13

5%	50%	95%
0.01	0.02	0.04
0.01	0.01	0.02
0.01	0.01	0.02
0.01	0.02	0.03
0.005	0.01	0.02
0.01	0.02	0.03
0.01	0.03	0.06
0.01	0.01	0.02
0.005	0.01	0.02
0.01	0.01	0.02
0.01	0.03	0.08
0.005	0.01	0.02
	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.005 0.01 0.01 0.005 0.01 0.01	0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.005 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.03 0.01 0.01 0.005 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03

Table 11. Assessed uncertainty in elasticity of substitution for CH₄ emissions (smaller numbers make emissions reductions more costly).

Table 12. Assessed uncertainty in elasticity of substitution for N_2O emissions (smaller numbers make emissions reductions more costly).

Fractile	OECD	LDC	FSU	EET
5%	0.01	0.01	0.007	0.008
50%	0.02	0.02	0.009	0.011
95%	0.02	0.02	0.011	0.014

2.2.2.3 Methane and Nitrous Oxide Elasticities

The costs of reducing methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions under a policy constraint are implemented in EPPA by using a nested CES production function where conventional inputs can be substituted for CH₄/N₂O emissions (Reilly *et al.*, 2006; Hyman *et al.*, 2003). The assumed value of the elasticity of substitution between emissions and conventional inputs determines the shape of the marginal abatement curve. We represent uncertainty in the costs of reducing CH₄ and N₂O in terms of uncertainty in these elasticities of substitution. An expert elicitation of this uncertainty was performed by Cossa (2004), as described above, using experts at the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. This assessment produced the uncertainty in elasticities of substitution, which vary by region, shown in **Tables 11** and **12**. These fractiles are used to develop probability density functions for these parameters.

2.2.2.4 Capital Vintaging

Capital stock is dynamically updated for each region and sector, as determined by the capital vintaging procedure (Jacoby and Sue Wing, 1999; Paltsev et al., 2005). In each period a fraction of the malleable capital is frozen to become part of the non-malleable portion. Letting K^m represent the malleable portion of capital and K^r the rigid portion, the procedure can be described as follows. New capital installed at the beginning of each period starts out in a malleable form. At the end of the period a fraction ϕ of this capital becomes non-malleable and frozen into the prevailing techniques of production. The fraction $(1 - \phi)$ is that proportion of previouslyinstalled capital that is able to have its input proportions adjust to new input prices to take advantage of intervening improvements in energy efficiency driven by the AEEI or by changing prices—essentially allowing the possibility of retrofitting previously installed capital. We treat the share of vintaged (non-malleable) capital as uncertain. The fractiles were obtained through expert elicitation of 5 experts (Cossa, 2004), whose results are shown in Table 13. The probability density function is constructed using the average of these fractiles, and is shown graphically as a probability density function in Figure 8.

Fractile	Experts				
	Jacoby	Reilly	Paltsev	Eckaus	Loeschel
5%	30%	30%	20%	44%	20%
50%	50%	60%	45%	59%	35%
95 %	80%	100%	80%	70%	70%

Table 13. Fractiles of Vintaged Capital Fraction from Expert Elicitation.



Share of Non-Malleable Capital

Figure 8. Probability density function for share of vintaged capital.

2.2.3 Correlation among Parameters

A critical assumption in any uncertainty analysis, in addition to the assumed distributions of individual parameters, is the correlation assumed among parameters when sampling. In general, the stronger the correlation between two parameters, the greater the uncertainty is in the model outcome (except when two parameters have opposing effects on the outcome). The empirical basis for estimating the degree of correlation among parameters treated here is limited. One exception is for the GDP growth rates across nations, for which the evidence shows only very weak correlation (Webster and Cho, 2006), and this weak correlation is implicitly represented in the random walk with drift procedure (since all regions have positive drift).

We have imposed correlation across subsets of parameters for which, on the basis of expert elicitation (Cossa, 2004), there are theoretical reasons to believe that a higher sample value for one implies a greater probability of a high sample value for another. These parameters all reflect aspects of technology, and the expert judgment was that different regions and sectors would at some level reflect similar technology characteristics because all regions would have access to general improvements in technology through normal processes of technology diffusion. The sets of parameters which are highly correlated are: AEEI across regions, the elasticity of substitution between capital and labor across sectors, the methane and nitrous oxide elasticities (which determine abatement costs) across regions, and the time trends for urban pollutants across different pollutants. In addition, the total available resources of oil and natural gas are assumed to be correlated (coal and shale resources are probabilistically independent). These groups of correlated parameters are summarized in **Table 14**. All other parameters in this study are assumed to be probabilistically independent. Note, however, that most other technology parameters do not explicitly vary by region (e.g. cost, and supply elasticities) and so in these cases parameters among regions are perfectly correlated.

Parameter	Correlated Across (dimensions of matrix)	Correlation Coefficient
AEEI	Regions (16x16)	0.9
Elasticity of Substitution (L,K)	Sectors (8x8)	0.8
Methane Elasticities (cost)	Regions (16x16)	0.8
N ₂ O Elasticities (cost)	OECD, LCD, FSU, EET (4x4)	0.8
Fossil Resources	Oil, Natural Gas (2x2)	0.9
Urban Pollutant time Trends	Urban Pollutants (7x7)	0.9

2.3 Policy Scenarios

We explore the uncertainty in five scenarios developed for the U.S. Climate Change Science Program (CCSP) Assessment Product 2.1a (Clarke *et al.*, 2007). These scenarios included a reference or no policy scenario and four scenarios that for the earth system models used in the exercise stabilized radiative forcing. They were developed to provide insight into discussions of climate policy, particularly with regard to the implications of stabilization for emissions trajectories, energy systems, and mitigation cost. In Clarke *et al.* (2007), projections were developed for these scenarios from three different integrated assessment models, one of which was the MIT modeling framework that includes the EPPA model. However, the full range of uncertainty under each of these scenarios was not explored in the CCSP report. Here we build on that exercise by performing an uncertainty analysis of the EPPA model under each of these policy constraints using the MIT-based emissions scenarios in the CCSP report.

The CCSP scenarios used here are a thought experiment, in which we explore the consequences of one path of policy constraints over time without learning or revision along the way. The purpose of this approach is not to provide a prediction of what will occur; indeed, we expect that some uncertainties will be reduced over time, and that long-term greenhouse gas reduction objectives will be revisited to respond to this new information.³ Rather, the purpose is to compare the uncertainty in economic and emissions outcomes under alternative paths in order to provide insight into the implications of several distinct levels of policy stringency, and to provide a basis for analysis of the uncertain climate effects of these scenarios.

The CCSP exercise developed a reference level of emissions and a set of 4 stabilization scenarios described as Level 1, 2, 3, and 4 (Clarke *et al.*, 2007) that were developed to meet the radiative forcing targets shown in **Table 15**. Each level referred to additional radiative forcing from GHGs. The radiative forcing levels led to CO₂-only stabilization levels of approximately 450, 550, 650, and 750 ppm with varying additional concentration increases of other GHGs given the models used. For the MIT IGSM the CO₂-equivalent concentrations were 523, 675, 812, and 925 ppm for levels 1 through 4, respectively. Here we implement the *emissions paths* developed by the MIT ISGM for the CCSP exercise.⁴ They are applied as constraints on GHG emissions, which are imposed identically across all parameter samples (*i.e.* all 400 samples for the Level 1 scenario impose the same emissions constraints). **Figure 9** shows the global CO₂ emissions over time under each of the five scenarios for reference parameter assumptions in EPPA (*i.e.* no uncertainty). When these emissions levels are propagated through an earth

³ For studies of this type, see Webster *et al.* (2008b), Yohe *et al.* (2004), Kolstad (1996), and Ulph and Ulph (1997).

⁴ Using those emissions paths with a different earth system model, and different versions of the IGSM will lead to different concentrations and radiative forcing. Both the EPPA and earth system components of the IGSM have been updated since the CCSP exercise was completed, and so the reference projections have changed. In the uncertainty exercise parameters that affect trace gas cycles are varied and so we do not expect them to meet the same radiative forcing or concentration targets. Our goal here is to evaluate the emissions scenarios in the CCSP report, not necessarily the concentration or radiative forcing targets.



Figure 9. Reference projections of global CO_2 Emissions under No Policy and concentration stabilization targets of 750, 650, 550, and 450ppm, as defined in Clarke *et al.* (2007).

 Table 15. Definitions of Concentration Stabilization Cases.

	Total Radiative Forcing from GHGs (W/m²)	Approximate Contribution to Radiative Forcing from non-CO ₂ GHGs (W/m ²)	Approximate Contribution to Radiative Forcing from CO ₂ (W/m ²)	Corresponding CO ₂ Concentration (ppmv)
Level 1	3.4	0.8	2.6	450
Level 2	4.7	1.0	3.7	550
Level 3	5.8	1.3	4.5	650
Level 4	6.7	1.4	5.3	750
Year 1998	≈2.1	0.65	1.46	365
Preindustrial (1750)	—	—	—	278

Source: Clarke et al. (2007), Table 1.2

system model with uncertainty in the physical science parameters, these radiative forcing and concentrations will necessarily vary from these targets in most of the simulations.

Several other assumptions in constructing the stabilization scenarios are important to note (see Clarke *et al.*, 2007 for details on each of the following). Policies are modeled as greenhouse gas emissions constraints with tradable permits both among regions and across GHGs. It is assumed that the policies to achieve stabilization are applied globally after 2012; *i.e.* no differentiation among nations in terms of when emissions constraints are introduced. The timing of emissions reductions was calculated under reference assumptions for EPPA to minimize costs over time ("when flexibility"). Finally, the allocations of emissions permits across regions under the stabilization scenarios, as in the CCSP report, were designed to impose equal marginal costs of abatement across all regions in each period, under the reference assumptions for all parameter values. This allocation is neither a recommendation nor a prediction of what will occur, but rather is a simple and transparent assumption. Because the regional economic impacts from emissions reductions are strongly influenced by the initial allocation, we report below only global aggregate economic losses.

3. RESULTS

We perform Monte Carlo simulation of the EPPA model, using Latin Hypercube sampling (Iman and Helton, 1988) from the parameter distributions described in Section 2. The simulations presented here are based on 400-member ensembles, and each sample is simulated under No Policy and under the four stabilization cases described in section 2.3.

3.1 Uncertainty in Emissions Projections

EPPA projects emissions of greenhouse gases (CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, HFC, PFC, SF₆) and of urban pollutants (NO_x, SO₂, CO, VOC, NH₃, black carbon, organic carbon). **Figure 10** shows the uncertainty in anthropogenic global CO₂ emissions under the no policy scenario, represented by the shaded regions on the graph. The lighter shaded region is higher above the median than below, indicating that the uncertainty is skewed towards higher emissions. This pattern results from the fact that there are many more ways of obtaining higher than modal emissions, but less likely to obtain lower than modal emissions. Higher emissions can result from any one of several parameters with values that cause high emissions; *e.g.*, high GDP growth *or* low AEEI *or* large amounts of coal and shale, etc. This results in the long upper tail. Conversely, there are far fewer ways (thus lower probability) to obtain low emissions; *e.g.*, low growth *and* high AEEI *and* less coal and shale available.

In Figure 10, we also reproduce the six IPCC SRES marker scenarios (Nakicenovic and Swart, 2000) and the four stabilization scenarios from Clarke *et al.* (2007). Only two of the SRES scenarios are fully within the 90% probability bounds of no policy emissions from EPPA.



Figure 10. Global anthropogenic emissions over time. Shaded regions show the 50% (darker shading) and 90% (lighter shading) probability bounds on EPPA emissions in the no policy case. The red lines indicate the IPCC SRES marker scenarios, with scenario label to right of graph. The blue dashed lines indicate the Level 4 (750ppm) and Level 2 (550ppm) stabilization scenarios from Clarke *et al.* (2007).

The other four fall mostly outside the 90% bounds. Thus, by our analysis the lower SRES scenarios seem very unlikely to occur without a climate policy. They are, however, easily within the range of the CCSP stabilization scenarios and so our modeling exercise does not dispute the idea that they are achievable. Formulating our exercise differently—to include likelihoods on different levels of policy action or if we were to consider an endogenous policy response to the evolving climate scenarios—would lead to SRES-like scenarios emerging as much more likely or as central estimates. Thus, while these different results might in part reflect fundamental differences about the drivers of future emissions, they may also simply reflect the fact that the exercises were conducted for different purposes with different expectations about how the scenarios would be used.

Figure 11 shows the median, 50% bounds, and 90% bounds on global emissions of CH₄ (Fig. 4b), N₂O (Fig. 4c), SO₂ (Fig. 4d), and NO_x (Fig. 4e) in the absence of climate policy. Numerical values of these projections and for emissions of other GHGs and urban pollutants are given for selected years in Appendix B. Greenhouse gas emissions absent climate policy are all increasing, with uncertainty ranges that grow wider over time. In contrast, median projections of SO₂ emissions are decreasing after 2010, with a low but not negligible probability that global SO₂ emissions will continue to increase over most of the 21^{st} century. Median emissions of NO_x grow slowly in the first half of the century and stabilize in the second half. Half of the samples



Figure 11. Global emissions under No Policy case of (a) CH_4 , (b) N_2O_7 , (c) SO_2 , and (d) NO_x .

have NO_x emissions that increase over the century. Unlike SO_2 , there is little likelihood that global NO_x emissions will fall significantly below current levels.

The uncertainty in emissions projections under the four CCSP scenarios with emissions constraints are given for selected years in Appendix A. Because the stabilization scenarios are modeled as emissions constraints, there is very little or no variance in greenhouse gas emissions within each scenario. The only exception is in the Level 4 (750ppm) scenario in the early decades where up to 5% of the samples are unconstrained because global emissions are below the emissions cap for that period, albeit only very slightly below. Given that the emissions caps are generally binding, uncertainty in emissions in the constrained cases is minimal. Instead the uncertainty appears in the cost of meeting the target (see Section 3.2 below). In contrast, emissions of the urban pollutants are affected by the stabilization policies and are not subject to

specific constraints in the exercise and so continue to vary in all scenarios. In general, the more stringent the greenhouse gas emissions cap, the lower the urban pollutant emissions are, as a result of substituting lower-emitting activities for those with higher emissions. Uncertainty in emissions under all policy scenarios are given in Appendix B (Tables B1-B5).

3.2 Uncertainty in Costs of Emissions Reductions

We present the resulting uncertainty in the costs of the four stabilization targets described in Section 2.3. In this study we only present global aggregate costs, as weighted by market exchange rates (MER).⁵ These estimates represent uncertainty in costs related to fundamental characteristics of the economy in terms of growth and technological and resource factors that affect emissions and abatement costs. There is no explicit consideration of the effect on cost of uncertainty in how policies are implemented—in all cases all countries participate starting in 2012 and in all cases the policy is achieved through a cap and trade system that equates marginal cost of reductions across regions and gases.⁶ Uncertainty in regional costs is obviously important as it is individual countries involved in negotiations that must ultimately bear these costs. However, how the global cost burden might be shared depends on the outcome of these negotiations, which are beyond the scope of this study. We have made no attempt to consider factors that would affect that allocation and so the specific regional costs that underlie the global total are not particularly informative. Here, therefore, we present global aggregate costs, which under emissions trading are largely independent of the initial allowance allocation. For a study, under certainty, that examines the allocation of the burden see Jacoby, *et al.* (2008).

We present two measures of effort required to meet the assumed atmospheric targets. One measure is carbon price, which reflects the marginal cost of abatement for a specified emissions cap. Because we assume globally traded greenhouse gas emissions allowances, there is a single world carbon price in each period for these simulations. The global emissions caps are held constant in each scenario at the level assumed in Clarke *et al.* (2007), so uncertainty in the underlying parameters will be reflected not in emissions but in the CO₂ prices and other economic impacts. **Figure 12** presents the resulting probability distributions of carbon prices for model periods 2020, 2060, and 2100. We choose these years as representative of near-, medium-, and long-term costs to illustrate CO₂ prices (and welfare losses below) to facilitate comparison to Clarke *et al.* (2007) which gave numerical results for these years. Numerical values for the mean, standard deviation, and several fractiles for the CO₂ price are given in Appendix A (Table A6) for selected years. The mean CO₂ price increases as the global target becomes more stringent (from Level 4 to Level 1), as do the fractiles (*e.g.*, 95th percentile). However, as shown in the Figure 12 and Table A6, there is considerable uncertainty around the mean and the point

⁵ For a discussion of purchasing power parity as an alternative approach and the choice of MER weights for this analysis, see Clarke *et al.* (2007), p. 65.

⁶ "When flexibility"—simulating conditions that would lead to optimal allocation of abatement over time—is not necessarily assured in the uncertainty runs. The CCSP emissions paths were developed to ensure optimal reductions over time. Here, we use the emissions paths defined in the CCSP as a quantity constraint. However, as parameters vary across samples, the emissions paths will no longer be intertemporally optimal.
estimates given in the CCSP (Clarke *et al.*, 2007). For example, under the Level 4 (750 ppm) scenario constraint, the carbon price in 2020 given in the CCSP for the EPPA model is \$5 per ton CO_2 and the mean of the distribution is \$6.8 per ton CO_2 , but the 50% probability range is \$1.7 to \$9.8 per ton, and the 90% probability range is \$0.0 to \$28.5 per ton. The CCSP analysis included other modeling groups, and in most cases their estimates of carbon prices fall easily within our uncertainty range⁷. Similarly, the carbon price in 2020 under the Level 1 (450 ppm) scenario is \$71 per ton in the CCSP report, but has a 50% probability range of \$58 to \$80 per ton, and a 90% probability range of \$44 to \$111 per ton.

A better measure of emissions-reductions effort is the change in global welfare which is measured in EPPA as the change in macroeconomic consumption. The uncertainty in global consumption losses are shown as probability density functions in **Figure 13** for the four stabilization targets in the years 2020, 2060, and 2100. The numbers in the figure indicate the values given in the CCSP report for the EPPA/IGSM. Table B7 (Appendix A) gives the mean, standard deviation, and selected fractiles for welfare loss in selected years, as a % of the reference (No Policy) case. Similar to the CO₂ price results, the consumption losses increase with the stringency of the emissions constraint for point estimates, means, and 95% fractiles. Again, there is considerable uncertainty in the economic impacts from reducing emissions. In 2020, the point estimate of global losses under the 750ppm constraint is 0.1%, the 50% probability range is 0.1% to 0.3%, and the 90% range is 0% to 0.6%. The global loss in 2020 under the 450ppm constraint is 2.1% as a point estimate, the 50% range is 0.9% to 2.1%, and the 90% range is 0% to 3.8%. Again, these ranges easily contain the range of cost estimates of other groups represented in the CCSP exercise. Too much should not be made of differences in point estimates of cost studies using different models, as those differences likely reflect plausible judgments about a future where costs that are either fairly high or fairly low cannot easily be ruled out.

Another distinct feature of the uncertainty, in both carbon prices and global consumption losses, is that they are highly skewed, much more so than any of the input distributions or than the resulting uncertainty in emissions. This skewness indicates that the most likely cost will be in the low end of the range for that scenario, but that there is a small probability of extremely high costs under each constraint. This feature is the result of the fact that there are many more combinations of input assumptions that can make an emissions constraint relatively low-cost; for example slower growth or more rapid increases in energy efficiency or ease of substituting away from carbon-emitting energy inputs to production or relatively cheap low-carbon energy technologies. There are far fewer combinations of parameters that can lead to very high costs of abatement, but these cannot be ruled out based on the uncertainty in input assumptions used here.

⁷ The only exception is the Level 1 (450) path in the initial period, where MiniCAM has a carbon price below our 90% range. For other time periods and other emissions paths, the ranges in this study encompass MiniCAM and MERGE results from Clarke *et al.* (2007).



Figure 12. Probability density functions of carbon prices in (a) 2020, (b) 2060, and (c) 2100. The numbers shown indicate the values given as EPPA results in Clarke *et al.* (2007).



Figure 13. Probability density functions of global economic losses due to emissions reductions, measured as % change in consumption for the years (a) 2020, (b) 2060, and (c) 2100. The numbers indicate the values given as EPPA results in Clarke *et al.* (2007).

Finally, the spread of possibilities is very broad in the distant future especially under the tightest policy constraint case. Those looking for a precise projection of future costs, or to resolve whether a tight constraint is either clearly impractical or necessarily easily achievable, are likely to be disappointed that we can shed no more light on the issue. Indeed, we would recommend that any analysis giving a narrow range of future costs should be treated with great skepticism because of the severe limits to our ability to know or describe technology or other determinants of abatement cost over the long term.

3.3 Energy Consumption by Fuel and Technology

In addition to emissions (Section 3.1) and abatement costs (Section 3.2), the uncertainty in other projected quantities under reference and policy scenarios provide some insight into the possible future. One such set of quantities is the shares of different fuels and technologies in global energy consumption. In this section, we compare the uncertainty in energy consumption under two scenarios: the reference and the Level 2 (~550ppm) constraint.

Reductions of carbon dioxide are achieved both by switching to lower carbon sources of energy and by reducing the amount of energy consumed (both in production and final consumption). For example, in 2050, the global total of primary energy across all fuel sources had a mean of 910 exajoules (EJ) in the reference scenario and 671 EJ under the Level 2 scenario (see **Figure 14**), a 26% reduction. However, the total primary energy under both scenarios has a wide uncertainty range; the 90% probability bounds are 600-1300 EJ under the reference and 470-970 EJ under the Level 2 scenario. In addition, the amount of energy consumption reduced under the Level 2 constraint is uncertain, driven by the uncertainty in the ease of substituting energy for non-energy inputs to production and consumption as compared with the ease of substituting low- or non-carbon energy for carbon-based fuels. Thus the 90% probability range in the reduction in total primary energy in 2050 under the Level 2 constraint is 13% to 37%.

The remainder of the carbon reductions results from switching to lower carbon-emitting energy sources or from capturing and storing carbon. The sources of primary energy in EPPA are coal, conventional (crude) oil, natural gas, shale oil, nuclear, hydro, biofuels, and a composite of solar and wind energy⁸. The amount of primary energy from each of these sources is uncertain under both the reference and the Level 2 scenarios. **Figure 15** presents these uncertainties in the form of Tukey box plots, in which the box indicates the 50% probability range, the line within the box indicates the median value and the whiskers indicate the 95% range. There are notable shifts in the distributions of some fuels between the no policy and policy cases. For example, there is a dramatic reduction in primary energy from coal, falling from a 95% range of 190-500 EJ in the reference to a range of 80-250 EJ in the Level 2 case. In fact, the Level 2 constraints result in a reduction in primary energy from all fossil fuels: coal, oil, natural gas, and shale, as one would expect. The non-carbon sources all increase. However, only the increase in biofuels constitutes a significant increase in the share of total energy. The other increases in nuclear,

⁸ EPPA does not distinguish between solar and wind (See Table 1), and uses a single production technology to represent total electricity from both sources.

hydro, and solar/wind are only a small increase in total share. Although natural gas and crude oil decrease under the Level 2 scenario in terms of physical energy units, their shares of the total energy actually increase. For example, the share of natural gas as a percentage of total primary energy in the reference case has a mean of 17% and a 90% range of 11-25%; its share under the Level 2 case is a mean of 20% and a 90% range of 14-28%. This is due to the much larger increases in coal and shale consumption over time in a no-policy economy. Coal is able to remain viable because of carbon capture and storage.

A related question is what is the uncertainty in the generation of electricity from different technology types, and how do these shares change under a policy constraint? The distinct electricity generation technologies in EPPA are conventional coal, refined oil, conventional natural gas, natural gas combined cycle (NGCC), natural gas combined cycle with carbon capture and sequestration (NGCAP), advanced coal-fired electricity generation with carbon capture and sequestration (IGCAP), nuclear, hydro, bioelectric, and composite solar/wind generation. The uncertainty range in the global electricity production from each technology in 2050 under the reference and Level 2 scenarios are shown in **Figure 16** as Tukey box plots. The Level 2 scenario results in dramatic reductions in conventional coal, oil, and natural gas generation. Most of this electricity is replaced with generation from coal and gas-fired generation with carbon capture and sequestration (NGCAP and IGCAP). There is also an increase in NGCC generation, but the uncertainty range is large in both scenarios, driven by uncertainty in the availability and therefore the price of natural gas, as well as the stringency of the emissions cap which is a function of economic growth rates. The Level 2 scenario also results in small increases in generation from nuclear, hydro, bio, and solar/wind, but these are not significant shifts. The precise mix of fuels and technology within each region, not shown here, will vary, and many regions have larger uncertainty ranges than the global aggregate shown in Figures 15 and 16.



Figure 14. Probability density functions of global total primary energy (sum across all fuel types) in (a) 2050 and (b) 2100 under no policy and Level 2 stabilization.



Figure 15. Uncertainty in global primary energy consumption by fuel in 2050. Each box indicates the 50% probability interval, the line inside the box indicates the median, and the whiskers indicate the 95% probability interval. Ranges are shown for energy consumption under No Policy (REF) and under the CCSP Level 2 (550ppm CO₂) policy case.



Figure 16. Uncertainty in global electricity production by technology type in 2050. Each box indicates the 50% probability interval, the line inside the box indicates the median, and the whiskers indicate the 95% probability interval. Ranges are shown for energy consumption under No Policy (REF) and under the CCSP Level 2 policy case. Coal, oil, and gas refer to conventional technologies, NGCC refers to natural gas combined cycle, NGCAP refers to natural gas combined cycle with carbon capture and storage, IGCAP refers to coal-fired integrated gasification combined cycle with carbon capture and storage, and Bio refers to bio-electric generation. Different technologies for generating electricity from solar and wind are not distinguished in EPPA.

3.4 Relative Contributions to Uncertainty

Uncertainty analysis can provide several types of useful information. In addition to quantifying the uncertainty in projections, as presented in sections 3.1-3.3, uncertainty analysis can also indicate which parameters are the primary drivers for uncertainty in projected outcomes. This information can be used to in setting priorities for research by identifying those inputs where a reduction in uncertainty would have the greatest impact on outcome uncertainty.

To calculate the percentage variance explained for each outcome, we perform analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the uncertain outcome (*e.g.*, CO_2 emissions) as the dependent variable and the samples of each parameter as the independent variables. The partial sum of squared errors (SSE) for each parameter is then divided by the total SSE to obtain the percentage. To simplify reporting, we sum the partial SSEs within the following groups of parameters:

- AEEI: all regions summed,
- Elasticity of substitution between fuels: all sectors summed,
- Elasticity of substitution between capital and labor: all sectors summed,
- Methane abatement elasticities: all regions summed,
- Nitrous oxide abatement elasticities: all regions summed,
- Oil and natural gas resource availability summed,
- Urban pollutant trends summed across gases,
- Urban pollutant initial emissions summed across gases,

In addition, the labor productivity growth rate samples vary by region and time, so to create a single measure of the aggregate input uncertainty, we calculate the ratio of global aggregate GDP in 2100 to the GDP in 2000. This ratio is the independent variable representing GDP growth uncertainty.

We also present the results in a more aggregated form. We combine the sum-squared-errors explained by parameters into four groups: "Energy Supply" sums the effects of all parameters related to advanced technology costs, penetration rates, and fossil resource availability and supply price elasticities. "Energy Demand" sums the effects of all substitution elasticities, AEEI in all regions, and vintaging. "Scale of Economy" sums the effects of GDP and population growth. All other parameter effects are aggregated in "Other".

The results for cumulative global CO₂ emissions (2000-2100) under the reference case are shown in **Figures 17** and **19**, and the results for the carbon price under the Level 2 (550ppm) stabilization case in 2020, 2060, and 2100 are shown in **Figures 18** and **20**. Which parameters most influence uncertainty in outcomes depends on the outcomes of interest. One important outcome is cumulative emissions in the absence of policy. The variance in long-run emissions absent climate policy is mainly explained by energy supply uncertainties (38%) and energy demand uncertainties (14%) (Figure 17). In terms of individual parameters, the five most important drivers of long-run uncertainty in emissions are 1) the supply elasticity of coal, which determines coal prices, 2) AEEI, which over the century significantly determines the total energy demand, 3) the elasticity of substitution between energy and non-energy (labor and capital) inputs to production, 4) the markup cost of shale, which determines when it is cost-competitive

with conventional fuels, and 5) GDP growth over the century (Figure 19). These five account for 53% of the total variance explained.

One of the key differences in this result compared with past studies (e.g., Webster et al., 2002; Nordhaus and Yohe, 1983, Reilly et al., 1987) is that GDP growth, while still more important than many other parameters, is not the primary driver of uncertainty in emissions (only 6% of variance in emissions explained). This change is a result of the new approach of generating GDP growth paths using a random walk, and of the assumption that growth shocks are not correlated across countries. As we noted earlier, our new approach uses evidence on variations in actual GDP growth as a basis for our projections about uncertainty and obtains from that the implications for global growth over the century as this is what matters for GHG concentrations. It doesn't matter much for the atmosphere whether it is China that grows rapidly or the US, or if neither grow rapidly but instead growth occurs in Russia, Latin America, or the Middle East. We would argue that previous estimates of variation in global rates of growth over the century were based on expert judgment that assessed growth rates over a similar period but failed to fully account for how swings from year to year or decade to decade or balancing of varying prospects among countries leads to a relatively smaller range in global growth. Our findings do not show that GDP is a less important driver of emissions growth than others have suggested but rather that, at the global level, past work may have overestimated the range of uncertainty.

With GDP uncertainty less important in explaining the range of future emissions other variables more closely related to the energy sector emerge as the primary drivers of uncertainty in no-policy carbon emissions. These include technological change, both price driven (*e.g.*, elasticity of substitution) and non-price driven (*e.g.*, AEEI), and the total fossil resources available, particularly coal and shale.

The result that the elasticity of coal supply with respect to price is an important driver of uncertainty in no-policy carbon emissions also is somewhat surprising as the general presumption has been that coal is widely available and so supply factors are not important. The elasticity range is supported in the literature and is based on econometric evidence as we earlier discussed. In fact, with all other EPPA parameters at reference/median levels, varying only this supply elasticity has only a weak effect on global CO₂ emissions. That result embodies the conventional wisdom for coal supply. Knowing this, the emergence of this parameter as important in the uncertainty analysis was initially a puzzle. Further investigation showed that the significant contribution to uncertainty of this parameter comes through its interaction with other uncertainties. As any of several other parameters — including AEEI, elasticities of substitution between energy and non-energy, and interfuel substitution elasticities - take on values that lead to higher-carbon emitting economies, the coal supply elasticity parameter becomes influential in determining how much of the abundant coal resources are used, relative to alternative energy sources. Thus, within the range of supply elasticities in the literature there is a question of whether coal supply would easily keep up with demand (under admittedly somewhat extreme demand conditions but ones that cannot be easily ruled out.) The broader implication of this finding is the need for caution in ruling out some parameters are not important based on

sensitivity tests around median values of other parameters as the importance may only show up when other values are outside what is considered their normal values.

Different subsets of assumptions drive the uncertainties in the costs of policies, and the parameters that matter most depend on whether one considers effects in the near-term (*e.g.*, 2020), medium-term (*e.g.*, 2050) or long-term (*e.g.*, 2100). One interesting result that is consistent across time horizons is that despite significant uncertainty over future technologies for energy supply, demand determinants dominate the uncertainty in carbon prices (Figure 18). In fact, by 2100, the uncertainty in carbon prices are almost entirely driven by energy demand and economic scale uncertainties, with energy supply accounting for only 1% of the variance in carbon prices. In this regard, it is important to remember that this result does should be interpreted to mean that supply considerations are not important but rather that they contribute less to explaining uncertainty. In part, this may reflect a model structure that is more disaggregated on the supply side so that while any one supply technology is uncertain, this result indicates that there are enough different options such that even if some end up more costly there are others that can fill in.

In terms of specific parameters that drive the results, CO_2 prices over all time horizons depend most strongly on the elasticity of substitution between energy and non-energy inputs to production. The uncertainty in carbon prices in 2020 also is sensitive to uncertainty in the cost markup factors for natural gas combined cycle and liquid fuels from biomass, AEEI, and the supply elasticity of oil. GDP growth is not as important as a driver of near-term carbon prices. The markup costs of liquid fuels from biomass and of liquid fuels from shale, GDP growth, and the oil supply elasticity are the additional critical drivers of uncertainty in carbon prices over longer time horizons (2060 and 2100).

Some of the uncertainties are likely to remain so and others may be resolved with time. GDP growth, for example, likely will always remain uncertain from whatever point one makes new projections; in 2050 we will know what economic growth was from 2008-2050, but will still have considerable uncertainty about what the rates will be for 2051-2150. Others, such as the costs of alternative technologies, may be better resolved through additional research and demonstration and eventually if they become commercial. They may still be subject to price shocks and changes in resource and technology but the large uncertainties with technologies that have not operated at commercial scale will be resolved. Still other assumptions may experience a shift over time in the mean or median estimate as technologies change, such as the ease of substituting inputs in production. A complete analysis of the value of information for reducing uncertainty would require, in addition to the results here, information on the supply side of uncertainty reduction, *i.e.* how much uncertainty can be reduced at what cost. Such an analysis is beyond the scope of this study.



Cumulative Global CO₂ 2000-2100 (Reference)

Figure 17. Percentage of variance in cumulative global CO₂ emissions under the reference case explained by each group of uncertain parameters. The percentage variance is calculated as the ratio of the partial sum of squared errors to the total sum of squared errors from the results of an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). "Energy Supply" sums the effects of all parameters related to advanced technology costs, penetration rates, and fossil resource availability and supply price elasticities. "Energy Demand" sums the effects of all substitution elasticities, AEEI in all regions, and vintaging. "Scale of Economy" sums the effects of GDP and population growth. All other parameter effects are aggregated in "Other".



Figure 18. Percentage of variance in carbon prices under the Level 2 (550ppm) scenario explained by each group of uncertain parameters. The percentage variance is calculated as the ratio of the partial sum of squared errors to the total sum of squared errors from the results of an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). "Energy Supply" sums the effects of all parameters related to advanced technology costs, penetration rates, and fossil resource availability and supply price elasticities. "Energy Demand" sums the effects of all substitution elasticities, AEEI in all regions, and vintaging. "Scale of Economy" sums the effects of GDP and population growth. All other parameter effects are aggregated in "Other".



Figure 19. Percentage of variance in cumulative global CO₂ emissions under the reference case explained by each uncertain parameter. The percentage variance is calculated as the ratio of the partial sum of squared errors to the total sum of squared errors from the results of an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA).





Figure 20. Percentage of variance in carbon prices in (a) 2020, (b) 2060, and (c) 2100 under the Level 2 (550ppm) stabilization case explained by each uncertain parameter. The percentage variance is calculated as the ratio of the partial sum of squared errors to the total sum of squared errors from the results of an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA).

3.5 Comparison with Previous Uncertainty Analysis Results

It is useful to compare the results of this study with those of an exercise conducted using an earlier version of the EPPA model as reported in Webster *et al.* (2002). The differences between Webster *et al.* (2002) and the present study include (1) added detail and improvements to the EPPA model (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005), (2) additional uncertain parameters treated, and (3) new probability distributions for many uncertain parameters, including the treatment of GDP growth and of future trends for non-greenhouse gas pollutants (*e.g.*, SO₂).

In Figure 21, we compare the 90% probability bounds on global CO_2 emissions under the no policy scenario between the current and previous studies. The upper bounds are very similar between the two studies: 36.9GtC in 2100 here vs. 35.8GtC in 2100 in Webster et al. (2002). The largest difference between the results is that the lower 90% bound in the new study (14.5GtC in 2100) is significantly higher than the previous lower bound (6.5GtC in 2100), and the median emissions level is now also higher (22.0GtC vs. 18.0GtC in 2100). There are two causes of this difference in the CO₂ emissions uncertainty results. First, the previous work was not normalized to its reference and had a median in the uncertainty analysis that was significantly lower than its reference. The reference CO₂ emissions in EPPA v3 is 22.9GtC in 2100, and the reference emissions in EPPA v4 is 22.4GtC in 2100. Second, the range of GDP growth at the global level is far narrower because of the new approach of representing stochastic growth at the regional/country level. It appears that the main effect of this is to pull in the lower tail, with energy supply and demand factors continuing to provide uncertainty on the high side. This study has a 90% range of global GDP growth over 2000-2100 of 2.2%-2.6% (Table 5), while the previous study had a range of 1.7%-2.5%. The impact of the improvement in methodology is to significantly reduce the likelihood of very low-growth samples, resulting in fewer low-emissions samples. The elimination of very low-emissions samples also has the effect of raising the mean and median CO₂ emissions, which are now close to the EPPA reference case emissions.

Uncertainty in sulfur emissions are compared in **Figure 22**. For SO₂, the biggest change is also to the lower bound and median cases, while the upper 90% bounds are very similar. In this case, we believe the change is largely due to the new approach to long-run emissions trends in non-greenhouse gas emissions. The methodology in Webster *et al.* (2002) led to no cases where global SO₂ emissions decreased over the 21^{st} century. The new approach (see Section 2) builds on recent work showing that a median projection would have global SO₂ emissions falling by the second half of the next century. Our new range reflects uncertainty around the new expected trend. The result is a significantly higher likelihood of very low sulfur emissions by the end of the century—overall the uncertainty range is much wider so it does not rule out higher scenarios present in the previous analysis but the new median is by 2100 actually somewhat lower than the previous lower 90% probability bound.



Figure 21. Comparison of 90% bounds on global CO₂ no-policy emissions between current study (shaded area) and Webster *et al.* (2002) (red dashed line).



Figure 22. Comparison of 90% bounds on global SO₂ no-policy emissions between current study (shaded area) and Webster *et al.* (2002) (red dashed line).

Although it is beyond the scope of this analysis to study the effects of the uncertain emissions on the physical earth system, it is worth noting that these two major changes in our uncertainty in no-policy emissions are to shift the distribution of global mean surface temperatures upward. The changes in the distribution of CO_2 emissions are likely to contribute to a lower likelihood of relatively small increases in temperature and to shift the median upward. Similarly, because SO_2 has a negative radiative forcing effect, a higher likelihood of low SO_2 emissions samples is likely to shift the overall distribution toward larger temperature increases. The quantification of these effects requires a similarly rigorous uncertainty analysis of an earth system model, which is a companion analysis (Sokolov *et al.*, 2008)).

4. DISCUSSION

This paper has presented an analysis of uncertainty in projections of emissions and costs under no climate policy and under four GHG concentration stabilization targets. Such quantitative descriptions of uncertainty are a useful input into the consideration of alternative stabilization targets. Projections differ in their purpose and it is important to be clear about their design and the uses intended for the results. Unfortunately the results of scenario exercises are often used for other than their intended purpose. For example, the IPCC SRES scenarios were not intended to be interpreted in terms of likelihood, but they have nonetheless come to be viewed in these terms.

The study reported here was designed to be interpreted in terms of likelihood, where the likelihoods are conditioned on specific policy assumptions. In particular, the exercise asks the question: If the world proceeds along an industrial, agricultural, and energy development path without consideration of the climate consequences what level of GHG and related pollutant emissions are likely over the next century? Taking these reference, *i.e.* "no policy", scenarios and running them through a climate modeling system we can then answer the question of how much climate change we might expect in the absence of climate policy. Given that the risks imposed by proceeding in that way may be unacceptable we then suppose four different policy scenarios, assuming they can be implemented with certainty, to explore the range of costs associated with meeting each of the associated emissions targets, given more or less ideal *implementation*. Running these scenarios through an earth system model, taking account of uncertainty in the response of that system, we can then assess how these constrained emissions scenarios will reduce the risks of exceeding critical thresholds. In this way, we hope to contribute to the debate about what level of emissions control is desirable or feasible -- providing information on mitigation to be weighed against the benefits in terms of reduced climate change risk.

As constructed, none of the five ensemble sets are an unconditional projection of what will happen nor are any of them a "business-as-usual" path. An unconditional projection would include some estimate of how, as climate change proceeded, the world would respond to that information and (likely) abate emissions. Some analyses assume an optimal weighing of costs and benefits to reflect a behavioral response. Given the problems of negotiating a solution (or evaluating economic damages) the optimal response is extremely uncertain and even if we could know what it was it seems unlikely that the world could agree to the necessary policy. Other, more *ad hoc* behavioral assumptions are obviously possible — perhaps with a weighting by an expert judgment of the likelihood of different levels of abatement. For example, experts might attach a 10% likelihood of no policy, a 20% likelihood of the tightest policy, etc. If the question is how much climate damage should one prepare for, then an exercise that includes an estimate of how much abatement we might undertake should be included.

Regarding "business-as-usual" there are now various climate policies and mitigation goals that have been adopted and many business decisions are being made on the expectation of implementation of additional policies. A true business-as-usual scenario would need to include a continuation of such policies. Just how to deal with the wide variety of policies measures some of which are very precise—e.g. the European Trading Scheme—others less so or as yet not fully specified such as the California emissions goals is a further design decision in a uncertainty or scenario exercise. Still another exercise might be to ask, given a particular emission goal how might political considerations lead to less than ideal implementation and, in so doing, raise the cost of implementation. This would require a set of judgments about how real policies might diverge from the idealized policies we have implemented as well as judgment about how failure to engage important parties would be reconciled with the emissions target.

All of these different approaches to scenario analysis and uncertainty analysis are useful in answering particular questions. We raise them here to make clear that the design of our exercise is useful for answering some specific questions, but much work remains to answer other questions.

Given the design of our exercise several key findings emerge. In terms of global CO_2 emissions our no-policy ensemble suggests that most of the lower IPCC SRES scenarios are unlikely unless there are specific climate policies. The SRES scenarios were not designed to represent a particular probability space but to span the range of scenarios in the literature, some of which likely included, at least implicitly, specific concerns about climate change. Despite warnings to the contrary in the SRES documentation, a popular interpretation of the scenarios often appears to be that they span a likely range in the absence of policy and that the middle of the range is what one might expect to be a median case. The interpretation is informal but has perhaps been encouraged by some uses of these scenarios (*e.g.*, Wigley and Raper, 2001). Recent debate about the fact that they are too low (*e.g.*, Pielke Jr. *et al.*, 2008) is a further attempt to suggest they are unrepresentative of the most likely range that charge should be leveled against the design criteria rather than the scenarios themselves.

A major reason for our higher range of global CO_2 emissions compared to earlier work with the EPPA model (Webster *et al.*, 2002) is an improved treatment of GDP growth uncertainty. Another consequence of this improvement is that GDP growth is a less important driver in emissions uncertainty than had been concluded by our previous studies. We have also presented the uncertainty in carbon prices and welfare losses due to atmospheric stabilization targets. Despite concerns over the significant uncertainty in future supply technologies, we find that the uncertainty in carbon prices are far more sensitive to parameters that determine energy demand, primarily through price-driven (elasticities of substitution) and non-price driven (AEEI) technological change. In particular, the single most influential parameter on carbon price uncertainty is the elasticity of substitution between energy and non-energy (labor and capital) inputs to production. This suggests that research aiming to reduce the uncertainty in the costs of greenhouse gas mitigation should include efforts to better characterize demand side processes.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support for this work provided by the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change through a consortium of industrial sponsors and Federal grants.

5. REFERENCES

- Ahlbrandt, T.S., R.R. Charpentier, T.R. Klett, J.W. Schmoker, C.J. Schenk, and G.F. Ulmishek, 2005: *Global Resource Estimates from Total Petroleum Systems*. American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Tulsa, OK, USA.
- Azar, C. and H. Dowlatabadi, 1999: A review of technical change in assessment of climate policy. *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment*, **24**: 513-44.
- Babiker, M.H., G.E. Metcalf and J. Reilly, 2003: Tax distortions and global climate policy. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, **46**: 269-287.
- Balistreri, E.J., C.A. McDaniel, E.V. Wong, 2003: An estimation of US industry-level capitallabor substitution elasticities: support for Cobb-Douglas. North American Journal of Economics & Finance 14: 343-356.
- Barker, T., I. Bashmakov, A. Alharthi, M. Amann, L. Cifuentes, J. Drexhage, M. Duan, O. Edenhofer, B. Flannery, M. Grubb, M. Hoogwijk, F. I. Ibitoye, C. J. Jepma, W.A. Pizer, K. Yamaji, 2007: Mitigation from a cross-sectoral perspective. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Blackorby, C. and R.R. Russell, 1989: Will the Real Elasticity of Substitution Please Stand Up? (A Comparison of the Allen/Uzawa and Morishima Elasticities). *The American Economic Review*, **79**(4): 882-888.
- Bohi, D.R., 1981: *Analyzing demand behavior: a study of energy elasticities*. Published for Resources for the Future by the Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Cheng, A.Y.C., 2005: *Economic Modeling of Intermittency in Wind Power Generation*, Master of Science Thesis in Technology and Policy, and Master of Science in Nuclear Science and Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, June.
- Clarke, L., J. Edmonds, H. Jacoby, H. Pitcher, J. Reilly, R. Richels, 2007: Scenarios of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Atmospheric Concentrations, Sub-report 2.1A of Synthesis and Assessment Product 2.1 by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research, Department of Energy, Office of Biological and Environmental Research, Washington, DC., USA, 106pp.
- Clemen, R.T. and R.L. Winkler, 1999: Combining Probability Distributions from Experts in Risk Analysis. *Risk Analysis*, **19**(2): 187-203.
- Cossa, P., 2004: Uncertainty Analysis of the Cost of Climate Policies, Master of Science Thesis in Technology and Policy, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, June.
- Dimaranan, B., and R. McDougall, 2002: *Global Trade, Assistance, and Production: The GTAP* 5 Data Base. Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana.
- Dahl, C. and T.E. Duggan, 1996: U.S. energy product supply elasticities: A survey and applications to the U.S. oil market. *Resource and Energy Economics*, **18**: 243-263.
- Edmonds, J.A. and J.M. Reilly, 1985: *Global Energy: Assessing the Future*, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Energy Information Administration (EIA), 2003: *Annual Energy Review 2003*. Report No. DOE/EIA-0384 (2003). <u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/aer/contents.html.</u>

- Gautier, D.L., G.L. Dolton, K.I. Takahashi and K.L. Varnes, eds., 1996: *1995 National* assessment of United States oil and gas resources—results, methodology, and supporting data. U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS-30.
- Genest, C. and J.V. Zidek, 1986: Combining Probability Distributions: a Critique and Annotated Bibliography. *Statistical Science* **1**: 114-148.
- Harvey, A.C. and P.H.J. Todd, 1983: Forecasting Economic Time Series with Structural and Box-Jenkins Models: A Case Study. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 1(4): 299-307.
- Harvey, A.C., 1985: Trends and Cycles in Macroeconomic Time Series, *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, **3**(3): 216-227.
- Hertel, T., 1997: *Global Trade Analysis: Modeling and Applications*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Heston, A., R. Summers and B. Aten, 2002: *Penn World Table Version 6.1*, Center for International Comparisons at the University of Pennsylvania (CICUP), October 2002. http://pwt.econ.upenn.edu/
- Hyman, R.C., J.M. Reilly, M.H. Babiker, A. De Masin and H.D. Jacoby, 2003: Modeling Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gas Abatement, *Environmental Modeling and Assessment* 8(3): 175-186.
- IEA (International Energy Agency), 2000a: *Energy Balances of OECD Countries 1997-1998*. Paris, France.
- IEA (International Energy Agency), 2000b: *Energy Statistics of non-OECD Countries, 1997-*1998. Paris, France.
- IEA (International Energy Agency), 2001: Energy Prices and Taxes, 1999. Paris, France.
- IEA (International Energy Agency), 1995: *Oil, Gas and Coal Supply Outlook, 1995*. Paris, France. <u>http://www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/1990/ogc_sup1995.pdf</u>.
- Iman, R.L. and J.C. Helton, 1988: An Investigation of Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis Techniques for Computer Models. *Risk Analysis*, **8**(1): 71-90.
- Jacoby, H.D. and I. Sue Wing, 1999: Adjustment Time, Capital Malleability, and Policy Cost. *The Energy Journal* Special Issue: The Costs of the Kyoto Protocol: A Multi-Model Evaluation, pp. 73-92.
- Jacoby, H.D., J.M. Reilly, J.R. McFarland, and S. Paltsev, 2006: Technology and technical change in the MIT EPPA model. *Energy Economics*, **28**(5-6): 610-631.
- Jacoby, H.D., R.S. Eckhaus, A.D. Ellerman, R.G. Prinn, D.M. Reiner and Z. Yang, 1997: CO₂ emissions limits: economic adjustments and the distribution of burdens, *The Energy Journal*, 18(3): 31-58.
- Kemfert, C., 1998: Estimated substitution elasticities of a nested CES production function approach for Germany. *Energy Economics*, **20**(3): 249-264.
- Kemfert, C. and H. Welsch, 2000: Energy-Capital-Labor Substitution and the Economic Effects of CO₂ Abatement: Evidence for Germany. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, **22**(6): 641-660.
- Kmenta, J., 1971: *Elements of Econometrics*. Macmillan Publishing Co., Inc., New York.
- Koetse, M.J., H.L.F. de Groot and R.J.G.M. Florax, 2007: Capital-energy substitution and shifts in factor demand: A meta-analysis. *Energy Economics* (in press) doi:10.1016/j.eneco.2007.06.006.
- Kolstad, C.D., 1996: Learning and Stock Effects in Environmental Regulation: The Case of Greenhouse Gas Emissions. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, **31**: 1-18.

- Krichene, N., 2002: World crude oil and natural gas: a demand and supply model. *Energy Economics and Management*, **24**: 557-576.
- Li, H. and G.S. Maddala, 1999: Bootstrap Variance Estimation of Nonlinear Functions of Parameters: An Application to Long-Run Elasticities of Energy Demand. *The Review of Economics and Statistics* **81**(4): 728-733.
- Maddison, A., 2003: The World Economy: Historical Statistics. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Manne, A.S. and R.G. Richels, 1994: The Costs of Stabilizing Global CO₂ Emissions: A Probabilistic Analysis Based on Expert Judgment. *Energy Journal* **15**(1): 31-56.
- Manne, A., R. Mendelsohn and R. Richels, 1995: MERGE: A Model for Evaluating Regional and Global Effects of GHG Reduction Policies. *Energy Policy* **23**(1): 17-34.
- Mayer, M., C. Wang, M. Webster and R.G. Prinn, 2000: Linking Local Air Pollution to Global Chemistry and Climate, *J. Geophysical Research* **105**(D18): 22,869-22,896.
- Medina, J. and J.A. Vega-Cervera, 2001: Energy and the non-energy inputs substitution: evidence for Italy, Portugal and Spain, *Applied Energy* **68**(2): 203-214.
- Morgan, M.G. and M. Henrion, 1990: Uncertainty: A Guide To Dealing With Uncertainty In Quantitative Risk And Policy Analysis. Cambridge; New York, Cambridge University Press.
- Nakicenovic, N. and R. Swart (eds.): 2000, Special Report on Emissions Scenarios, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK. 570pp.
- Nordhaus, W.D. and G.W. Yohe, 1983: Future Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Fossil Fuels. In *Changing Climate, report of the Carbon Dioxide Assessment Committee*, 87-153. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Paltsev, S., J. M. Reilly, H. D. Jacoby, R. S. Eckaus, J. McFarland, M. Sarofim, M. Asadoorian and M. Babiker, 2005: The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4, MIT Joint Program *Report 125*, Cambridge, MA. See <u>http://globalchange.mit.edu/pubs/abstract.php?publication_id=697</u>.
- Paltsev, S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, A. Gurgel, G. Metcalf, A. Sokolov, and J. Holak, 2007: Assessment of US Cap-and-Trade Proposals. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change *Report 146*, April, 71p. http://globalchange.mit.edu/pubs/abstract.php?publication_id=972.
- Parson, E., V. Burkett, K. Fisher-Vanden, D. Keith, L. Mearns, H. Pitcher, C. Rosenzweig, and M. Webster, 2007: *Global Change Scenarios: Their Development and Use.* Sub-report 2.1B of Synthesis and Assessment Product 2.1 by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. Department of Energy, Office of Biological & Environmental Research, Washington, DC., USA, 106 pp.
- Pielke Jr., R., T. Wigley and C. Green, 2008: Dangerous Assumptions. Nature, 452: 531-532.
- Reilly, J., J. Edmonds, R. Gardner and A. Brenkert, 1987: Monte Carlo Analysis of the IEA/ORAU Energy/Carbon Emissions Model. *The Energy Journal*, **8**(3): 1-29.
- Reilly, J., M. Sarofim, S. Paltsev and R. Prinn, 2006: The Role of Non-CO₂ GHGs in Climate Policy: Analysis Using the MIT IGSM, *Energy Journal*, Multi-Greenhouse Gas Mitigation and Climate Policy, Special Issue (3): 503-520.
- Reilly, J., R. Prinn, J. Harnisch, J. Fitzmaurice, H. Jacoby, D. Kicklighter, J. Melillo, P. Stone, A. Sokolov and C. Wang, 1999: Multi-gas assessment of the Kyoto Protocol. *Nature*, 401: 549-555.

- Reilly, J. and S. Paltsev, 2006: European Greenhouse Gas Emissions Trading: A System in Transition, in De Miguel, M. *et al* (eds.) *Economic Modeling of Climate Change and Energy Policies*, Edward Elgar Publishing, 45-64.
- Rutherford, T., 1995: *Demand Theory and General Equilibrium: An Intermediate Level Introduction to MPSGE*, GAMS Development Corporation, Washington, DC.
- Sands R.D., 2004: Dynamics of Carbon Abatement in the Second Generation Model. *Energy Economics*, **26**: 721-738.
- Scott, M.J., R.D. Sands, J. Edmonds, A.M. Liebetrau and D.W. Engel, 1999: Uncertainty in Integrated Assessment Models: Modeling with MiniCAM 1.0. *Energy Policy*, 27(14): 597.
- Sokolov, A.P., P.H. Stone, C.E. Forest, R. Prinn, M.C. Sarofim, M. Webster, S. Paltsev, C.A. Schlosser, D. Kicklighter, S. Dutkiewicz, J. Reilly, C. Wang, B Felzer, H.D. Jacoby, 2008: Probabilistic Forecast for 21st Century Climate Based on Uncertainties in Emissions (without Policy) and Climate Parameters. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, *Report 166*, September, 61p. http://globalchange.mit.edu/pubs/abstract.php?publication_id=975.
- Staël von Holstein, C.-A. S. and J.E. Matheson, 1979: *A Manual for Encoding Probability Distributions*. SRI International, Palo Alto, CA.
- Stern, D.I., 2006: Reversal of the trend in global anthropogenic sulfur emissions. *Global Environmental Change*, **16**(2006): 207-220.
- Stern, D.I., 2005: Beyond the Environmental Kuznets Curve: Diffusion of Sulfur-Emissions-Abating Technology. *Journal of Environment & Development*, **14**(1): 101-124.
- Stern, D.I. and M.S. Common, 2001: Is There an Environmental Kuznets Curve for Sulfur. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, **41**: 162-178.
- Stock, J. H. and M. W. Watson, 1988: Variable Trends in Economic Time Series. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 2(3): 147-174.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman, 1974: Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. *Science*, **185**(September): 1124-1131.
- UN, 2007: World Population Prospects: the 2006 Revision. United Nations Population Division, New York, USA. <u>http://www.un.org/esa/population/unpop.htm</u>.
- Ulph, A. and D. Ulph, 1997: Global Warming, Irreversibility and Learning. *Economic Journal*, **107**(442): 636-650.
- Urga, G. and C. Walters, 2003: Dynamic translog and linear logit models: a factor demand analysis of interfuel substitution in US industrial energy demand. *Energy Economics*, **25**(2003): 1-21.
- Webster, M.D., M. Babiker, M. Mayer, J.M. Reilly, J. Harnisch, M.C. Sarofim, and C. Wang, 2002: Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models. *Atmospheric Environment*, **36**(22): 3659-3670.
- Webster, M.D. and C.-H. Cho, 2006: Analysis of Variability and Correlation in Long-term Economic Growth Rates. *Energy Economics*, **28**(5-6): 653-666.
- Weyant, J.P., 2000: *An introduction to the economics of climate change policy*. Pew Center on Global Climate Change. 56pp.
- Weyant, J.P. and J.N. Hill, 1999: Introduction and Overview. *Energy Journal*, Special Issue: The Costs of the Kyoto Protocol.
- Wigley, T.M.L. and Raper, S.C.B., 2001: Interpretations of High Projections for Global-Mean Warming. *Science*, **293**: 451-454.

- Yatchew, A. and J.A. No, 2001: Household Gasoline Demand in Canada. *Econometrica* **69**(6): 1697-1709.
- Yohe, G., N. Andronova and M. Schlesinger, 2004: To Hedge or not against an Uncertain Climate Future? *Science*, **306**: 416-417.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Historical and Projected GDP per Capita Growth Rates by Region	62-69
Appendix B: Tables of Results	70-81



APPENDIX A. HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED GDP PER CAPITA GROWTH RATES BY REGION





Figure A4. GDP per capita growth rates for Japan (JPN).







Figure A6. GDP per capita growth rates for Europe (EUR).







Figure A8. GDP per capita growth rates for Former Soviet Union (FSU).







Figure A10. GDP per capita growth rates for China (CHN).



Figure A11. GDP per capita growth rates for India (IND).



Figure A12. GDP per capita growth rates for Indonesia (IDZ).







Figure A14. GDP per capita growth rates for Middle East (MES).





Figure A16. GDP per capita growth rates for Rest of World (ROW).

APPENDIX B. TABLES OF RESULTS

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
No Policy	Mean	10.1	15.1	19.1	21.4	22.9
	Std Dev	0.8	2.4	4.1	5.3	6.7
	5%	8.8	11.4	13.0	13.8	14.5
	25%	9.5	13.4	16.4	17.6	17.8
	50%	10.0	14.8	18.6	20.6	22.0
	75%	10.7	16.5	21.6	24.8	26.6
	95%	11.5	18.9	26.3	31.4	36.9
CCSP750	Mean	9.2	12.2	13.7	12.4	9.2
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2
	5%	9.2	12.1	13.6	12.3	9.1
	25%	9.2	12.2	13.7	12.3	9.2
	50%	9.2	12.2	13.7	12.4	9.2
	75%	9.2	12.2	13.7	12.4	9.3
	95%	9.2	12.2	13.8	12.5	9.4
ccsp650	Mean	8.7	10.7	10.7	8.7	6.7
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2
	5%	8.6	10.6	10.6	8.6	6.6
	25%	8.6	10.7	10.6	8.7	6.7
	50%	8.7	10.7	10.7	8.7	6.7
	75%	8.7	10.7	10.7	8.7	6.7
	95%	8.7	10.7	10.8	8.8	6.8
ccsp550	Mean	7.7	8.0	6.1	4.8	3.9
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1
	5%	7.7	7.9	6.1	4.7	3.9
	25%	7.7	7.9	6.1	4.8	3.9
	50%	7.7	8.0	6.1	4.8	3.9
	75%	7.7	8.0	6.2	4.8	4.0
	95%	7.7	8.0	6.2	4.8	4.0
ccsp450	Mean	5.8	4.0	2.8	2.5	2.2
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
	5%	5.7	4.0	2.7	2.4	2.2
	25%	5.8	4.0	2.8	2.5	2.2
	50%	5.8	4.0	2.8	2.5	2.2
	75%	5.8	4.1	2.8	2.5	2.3
	95%	5.8	4.1	2.9	2.6	2.3

Table B1. Uncertainty in CO_2 Emissions for Selected Years.
		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	456.7	582.0	693.7	762.2	798.8
	Std Dev	23.3	59.9	101.5	131.7	159.8
	5%	419.5	492.5	539.5	568.8	559.1
No Policy	25%	440.2	541.4	621.2	669.5	690.3
	50%	457.6	576.9	686.3	748.6	785.2
	75%	471.6	618.9	757.1	849.0	881.0
	95%	493.6	686.7	863.1	987.3	1090.2
	Mean	425.0	425.1	426.2	428.4	431.0
	Std Dev	0.1	0.6	3.4	6.2	7.4
	5%	425.0	425.0	425.0	425.0	425.0
CCSP750	25%	425.0	425.0	425.0	425.0	425.0
	50%	425.0	425.0	425.0	425.0	428.5
	75%	425.0	425.0	425.0	429.6	434.9
	95%	425.0	425.8	433.7	441.4	444.5
	Mean	385.0	385.1	387.3	390.0	393.9
	Std Dev	0.2	0.6	4.9	6.3	6.9
	5%	385.0	385.0	385.0	385.0	385.0
ccsp650	25%	385.0	385.0	385.0	385.0	388.7
	50%	385.0	385.0	385.0	387.9	392.9
	75%	385.0	385.0	386.9	393.0	397.9
	95%	385.0	385.8	397.3	402.2	404.7
	Mean	345.0	345.2	347.9	351.8	356.3
	Std Dev	0.2	1.3	5.0	6.3	7.1
	5%	345.0	345.0	345.0	345.0	346.7
ccsp550	25%	345.0	345.0	345.0	346.4	351.1
	50%	345.0	345.0	345.0	350.4	355.4
	75%	345.0	345.0	349.7	355.6	360.5
	95%	345.2	345.9	357.4	363.2	370.4
	Mean	305.1	305.1	306.2	309.3	311.3
	Std Dev	0.2	0.4	2.4	3.6	3.9
	5%	305.0	305.0	305.0	305.0	305.8
ccsp450	25%	305.0	305.0	305.0	306.4	308.2
	50%	305.0	305.0	305.0	308.4	310.8
	75%	305.0	305.0	306.4	311.7	314.0
	95 %	305.4	305.3	312.4	315.8	319.0

 Table B2.
 Uncertainty in Methane Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	13.5	15.9	18.4	20.7	23.5
	Std Dev	0.5	1.4	2.4	3.3	4.2
	5%	12.7	13.6	14.9	15.9	17.3
No Policy	25 %	13.1	15.0	16.9	18.6	20.8
	50%	13.4	15.8	18.3	20.3	22.9
	75%	13.8	16.6	19.9	22.7	25.7
	95%	14.4	18.2	22.6	26.6	31.5
	Mean	12.3	11.9	11.6	11.2	10.9
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3
	5%	12.3	11.9	11.4	11.0	10.6
CCSP750	25%	12.3	11.9	11.5	11.1	10.8
	50%	12.3	11.9	11.5	11.2	10.9
	75%	12.3	12.0	11.6	11.3	11.1
	95 %	12.3	12.0	11.8	11.7	11.5
	Mean	12.1	11.3	10.5	9.8	9.1
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.3
	5%	12.0	11.2	10.3	9.5	8.7
ccsp650	25%	12.1	11.2	10.4	9.6	8.9
	50%	12.1	11.3	10.4	9.7	9.1
	75%	12.1	11.3	10.5	9.9	9.3
	95 %	12.1	11.3	10.9	10.3	9.6
	Mean	11.9	10.6	9.4	8.3	7.3
	Std Dev	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.3
	5%	11.8	10.5	9.2	8.0	6.9
ccsp550	25%	11.8	10.6	9.3	8.1	7.1
	50%	11.9	10.6	9.4	8.3	7.2
	75%	11.9	10.6	9.5	8.4	7.5
	95%	11.9	10.7	9.8	8.8	7.8
	Mean	11.6	9.9	8.3	6.8	5.2
	Std Dev	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3
	5%	11.6	9.9	8.2	6.5	4.9
ccsp450	25%	11.6	9.9	8.2	6.6	5.0
	50%	11.6	9.9	8.3	6.7	5.2
	75%	11.7	10.0	8.3	6.8	5.3
	95 %	11.7	10.0	8.5	7.0	5.5

 Table B3.
 Uncertainty in Nitrous Oxide Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	138.7	135.2	120.6	101.9	86.4
	Std Dev	48.8	78.1	98.5	107.7	112.3
	5%	70.1	37.9	19.0	8.2	3.5
No Policy	25%	101.8	74.8	49.0	29.3	16.2
	50%	134.2	118.9	93.2	64.4	44.8
	75%	169.6	179.1	162.3	138.5	107.4
	95%	222.1	280.2	305.9	329.8	332.6
	Mean	124.7	106.8	87.8	70.6	58.2
	Std Dev	42.3	60.9	70.9	74.7	76.8
	5%	65.5	32.9	14.5	6.0	2.4
CCSP750	25%	92.3	60.2	34.4	19.7	10.8
	50%	120.9	96.0	68.7	44.2	30.4
	75%	150.8	139.2	117.6	94.6	72.0
	95%	203.0	226.1	239.7	233.8	237.6
	Mean	117.1	96.0	75.7	62.0	53.7
	Std Dev	39.6	54.7	60.9	65.9	71.5
	5%	61.7	29.3	12.4	5.1	2.3
ccsp650	25%	87.1	53.6	30.4	17.5	10.0
	50%	113.7	86.6	58.4	39.3	28.2
	75%	141.8	124.1	102.6	82.7	65.6
	95%	189.3	202.5	203.6	211.0	217.5
	Mean	104.5	76.1	62.3	55.5	49.4
	Std Dev	35.5	43.4	50.7	59.5	66.2
	5%	55.3	23.6	10.2	4.5	2.0
ccsp550	25%	77.4	42.6	25.8	15.7	9.3
	50%	101.0	68.8	47.9	35.8	25.6
	75%	126.6	99.0	83.0	73.4	60.9
	95 %	169.5	161.7	169.7	191.2	200.8
	Mean	79.9	55.7	51.9	47.6	40.4
	Std Dev	27.2	31.7	42.4	51.0	53.5
	5%	42.7	17.1	8.3	3.8	1.5
ccsp450	25%	59.0	31.7	21.6	13.8	7.6
	50%	77.8	50.3	40.2	30.6	20.3
	75%	96.3	73.1	68.6	62.9	50.3
	95 %	129.6	119.1	145.7	164.6	162.9

 Table B4.
 Uncertainty in Sulfur Dioxide Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	183.5	235.6	267.8	282.5	290.0
	Std Dev	49.6	74.7	103.4	127.3	147.5
	5%	118.2	138.5	137.3	126.6	113.6
No Policy	25%	150.8	186.4	199.6	199.7	194.3
	50%	175.5	224.3	247.3	257.0	261.4
	75%	207.3	274.2	323.0	340.0	352.0
	95%	272.1	367.4	462.1	534.6	591.7
	Mean	175.1	210.9	227.5	229.7	227.1
	Std Dev	45.9	64.3	83.2	99.4	112.5
	5%	112.7	125.8	122.8	109.2	91.9
CCSP750	25%	144.5	168.5	171.0	165.4	152.9
	50%	167.0	198.8	211.8	209.0	204.2
	75%	197.5	243.0	269.5	274.4	273.8
	95%	258.4	328.0	392.3	418.1	462.2
	Mean	169.8	200.3	210.0	211.6	213.0
	Std Dev	44.4	60.6	76.3	91.7	105.7
	5%	109.5	119.9	113.6	99.7	85.4
ccsp650	25%	139.7	159.6	159.4	152.1	142.6
	50%	161.9	188.8	192.6	192.2	192.0
	75%	191.8	231.2	252.3	253.6	256.5
	9 5%	252.0	313.8	354.4	386.3	439.8
	Mean	160.3	178.1	185.4	192.5	195.4
	Std Dev	41.6	53.0	66.8	82.5	95.7
	5%	102.1	107.6	96.9	87.2	77.5
ccsp550	25%	131.9	142.2	141.6	138.4	132.0
	50%	152.7	168.9	172.0	175.4	175.4
	75%	181.5	207.8	221.6	231.6	238.3
	95%	236.0	273.3	312.5	351.0	393.9
	Mean	137.2	143.8	157.3	165.7	161.9
	Std Dev	33.8	40.9	54.5	68.2	76.3
	5%	87.5	85.9	83.0	76.3	65.6
ccsp450	25%	114.2	115.9	121.8	121.6	109.6
	50%	132.0	137.0	146.3	152.8	146.5
	75%	155.5	166.4	188.5	197.8	200.4
	95%	200.1	218.5	261.6	296.1	315.7

 Table B5.
 Uncertainty in Nitrogen Oxides Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	1293.3	1725.1	2062.3	2300.9	2469.6
	Std Dev	260.5	439.2	652.0	881.5	1108.9
	5%	868.8	1011.2	1128.9	1131.0	1092.1
No Policy	25%	1131.7	1428.2	1558.1	1642.8	1673.3
	50%	1280.6	1682.3	1976.1	2128.5	2233.0
	75%	1453.9	1990.7	2409.6	2773.9	3058.6
	95%	1761.3	2548.5	3264.9	3882.0	4467.8
	Mean	1270.8	1676.7	1973.3	2132.5	2223.4
	Std Dev	257.1	423.9	613.3	794.5	971.5
	5%	853.1	993.1	1052.6	1023.4	969.2
CCSP750	25%	1106.7	1387.9	1499.5	1523.7	1496.5
	50%	1261.2	1626.6	1894.5	2000.1	2030.0
	75%	1435.1	1940.1	2311.6	2556.8	2762.3
	95%	1738.5	2456.9	3143.4	3673.9	4023.3
	Mean	1260.5	1655.1	1907.9	2037.8	2117.1
	Std Dev	254.2	416.7	591.5	756.8	919.5
	5%	851.8	998.5	1060.2	990.1	909.8
ccsp650	25%	1099.0	1370.0	1466.2	1471.6	1430.5
	50%	1248.0	1611.1	1824.2	1911.6	1930.6
	75%	1422.3	1916.0	2230.3	2442.0	2628.0
	95%	1721.7	2431.2	3036.7	3464.8	3818.6
	Mean	1235.2	1586.3	1774.7	1891.9	1937.8
	Std Dev	253.0	401.9	552.5	705.7	847.3
	5%	827.1	931.0	945.3	901.4	827.6
ccsp550	25%	1077.1	1316.4	1372.3	1365.2	1286.2
	50%	1222.3	1549.2	1704.0	1782.2	1760.0
	75%	1397.1	1848.6	2095.7	2310.2	2454.7
	95%	1688.5	2350.1	2812.3	3251.4	3455.3
	Mean	1153.0	1403.9	1587.2	1697.6	1678.7
	Std Dev	244.9	369.1	507.7	645.1	740.2
	5%	768.3	817.9	829.6	811.6	712.6
ccsp450	25%	991.0	1146.5	1207.1	1194.7	1108.8
	50%	1141.0	1358.9	1536.4	1579.6	1542.9
	75%	1320.1	1649.1	1899.6	2119.4	2156.6
	95%	1574.7	2069.4	2529.6	2909.6	3077.0

 Table B6.
 Uncertainty in Carbon Monoxide Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	269.9	354.0	404.1	434.9	456.3
	Std Dev	64.7	99.3	134.1	168.8	205.3
	5%	184.5	217.9	219.6	203.5	191.0
No Policy	25%	221.1	278.1	305.4	314.8	310.2
	50%	261.3	340.3	389.9	410.0	419.4
	75%	305.0	413.0	493.0	539.5	571.1
	95%	393.8	543.6	634.2	719.7	822.4
	Mean	264.6	344.9	391.5	412.5	419.6
	Std Dev	61.6	94.0	126.3	156.6	185.6
	5%	180.6	213.4	213.6	194.3	174.6
CCSP750	25%	219.0	271.8	298.5	300.9	290.2
	50%	255.6	334.8	382.1	389.4	391.1
	75%	300.3	403.1	483.1	509.7	525.2
	95%	376.9	523.9	617.6	682.9	753.8
	Mean	263.0	341.7	382.7	398.6	404.4
	Std Dev	62.7	95.0	125.1	152.3	178.0
	5%	178.3	211.2	208.9	188.3	167.9
ccsp650	25%	217.1	268.8	292.3	290.4	280.
-	50%	253.1	331.4	371.3	376.2	376.9
	75%	298.0	398.5	468.1	489.7	495.
	95%	378.2	520.6	599.2	667.8	727.
	Mean	257.2	328.2	357.8	370.5	373.
	Std Dev	61.4	90.5	116.3	140.7	164.
	5%	173.7	200.2	198.0	176.4	157.4
ccsp550	25%	213.1	260.3	275.1	268.9	261.
-	50%	248.1	318.8	346.9	348.5	350.4
	75%	292.5	383.5	436.7	453.5	456.
	95%	369.4	493.4	559.5	628.9	680.2
	Mean	238.4	288.1	314.1	329.3	325.3
ccsp450	Std Dev	57.5	80.1	102.9	126.6	143.
	5%	160.3	173.8	172.7	155.8	134.4
	25%	194.9	229.7	242.4	237.5	223.3
	50%	231.5	279.4	301.8	312.7	302.
	75%	273.1	338.7	379.8	397.1	394.4
	95%	341.1	434.6	494.3	557.3	591.7

 Table B7.
 Uncertainty in Volatile Organic Compound Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	7.4	7.2	6.4	5.5	4.7
	Std Dev	4.8	7.2	8.8	9.8	10.2
	5%	3.3	1.8	0.8	0.3	0.1
No Policy	25%	5.5	4.2	2.7	1.7	0.9
	50%	7.1	6.3	4.9	3.6	2.5
	75%	9.1	9.3	8.7	7.3	5.9
	95 %	12.0	15.6	16.4	16.8	18.3
	Mean	7.1	6.4	5.4	4.5	3.7
	Std Dev	4.6	6.5	7.5	7.9	8.0
	5%	3.1	1.6	0.7	0.3	0.1
CCSP750	25%	5.1	3.7	2.3	1.3	0.7
	50%	6.8	5.6	4.2	2.9	1.9
	75%	8.6	8.7	7.4	5.9	4.7
	95 %	11.4	13.5	14.0	14.2	13.3
	Mean	6.9	6.2	5.0	4.1	3.4
	Std Dev	4.4	6.2	6.9	7.2	7.3
	5%	3.1	1.6	0.7	0.3	0.1
ccsp650	25%	5.0	3.6	2.1	1.2	0.7
	50%	6.6	5.4	3.9	2.6	1.8
	75%	8.3	8.2	6.9	5.5	4.3
	95%	11.1	13.0	12.8	13.0	12.1
	Mean	6.5	5.6	4.5	3.7	3.0
	Std Dev	4.2	5.6	6.2	6.6	6.5
	5%	2.9	1.4	0.6	0.3	0.1
ccsp550	25%	4.7	3.2	1.9	1.1	0.6
	50%	6.2	4.8	3.4	2.4	1.6
	75%	7.9	7.3	6.1	5.0	3.8
	95%	10.5	11.6	11.2	11.6	10.5
	Mean	5.8	4.8	4.1	3.3	2.5
	Std Dev	3.8	4.9	5.7	6.0	5.6
	5%	2.6	1.2	0.5	0.2	0.1
ccsp450	25%	4.2	2.8	1.7	1.0	0.5
	50%	5.5	4.2	3.1	2.1	1.4
	75%	7.0	6.2	5.5	4.5	3.3
	95 %	9.4	10.2	10.3	10.4	8.8

 Table B8.
 Uncertainty in Black Carbon Aerosol Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	29.9	28.4	26.1	23.3	20.5
	Std Dev	18.2	26.4	33.4	38.0	40.9
	5%	13.2	7.0	3.6	1.6	0.7
No Policy	25%	22.2	16.5	11.4	6.9	4.0
	50%	28.8	25.1	20.5	15.5	11.3
	75%	35.7	36.8	35.4	30.9	25.2
	95 %	51.6	59.0	69.2	74.7	78.6
	Mean	29.3	27.1	24.0	20.4	17.4
	Std Dev	17.9	25.4	30.6	33.1	34.5
	5%	12.9	6.5	3.2	1.4	0.6
CCSP750	25%	21.8	15.7	10.2	6.1	3.6
	50%	28.2	23.9	19.1	13.5	9.5
	75%	35.0	35.1	33.2	27.5	21.8
	95%	50.2	57.5	64.5	66.1	66.0
	Mean	29.0	26.5	22.8	19.2	16.1
	Std Dev	17.7	24.8	28.9	30.9	31.7
	5%	12.7	6.4	3.1	1.3	0.6
ccsp650	25%	21.6	15.4	9.7	5.8	3.4
	50%	27.9	23.3	18.1	12.8	8.9
	75%	34.9	34.6	31.7	25.6	20.7
	95%	49.6	56.5	62.1	61.8	61.9
	Mean	28.3	25.2	21.2	17.6	14.3
	Std Dev	17.5	23.8	27.1	28.6	28.2
	5%	12.5	6.2	2.8	1.2	0.5
ccsp550	25%	21.1	14.7	9.2	5.4	3.0
	50%	27.3	22.1	16.8	11.5	7.7
	75%	34.0	32.7	28.4	23.5	17.9
	95%	48.6	54.3	57.5	57.2	56.4
	Mean	26.9	23.1	20.0	16.3	12.4
	Std Dev	17.0	22.3	26.0	26.6	24.4
	5%	11.7	5.4	2.6	1.1	0.4
ccsp450	25%	19.7	12.9	8.3	4.7	2.4
	50%	26.1	20.4	15.8	10.6	6.5
	75%	32.3	30.3	27.6	22.2	15.8
	95%	46.4	50.8	56.0	52.2	49.7

 Table B9.
 Uncertainty in Organic Carbon Aerosol Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	53.8	73.9	93.3	109.7	123.8
	Std Dev	16.0	25.1	36.4	49.0	60.9
	5%	31.3	39.5	43.7	48.2	46.9
No Policy	25%	42.1	55.4	65.5	72.3	77.5
	50%	52.1	71.9	89.7	105.4	115.7
	75%	62.8	87.1	113.0	134.5	154.9
	95%	83.7	120.0	165.5	202.6	234.6
	Mean	53.7	73.2	90.6	103.7	114.1
	Std Dev	16.0	24.8	34.7	45.0	54.6
	5%	31.2	39.0	43.3	46.6	44.7
CCSP750	25%	41.9	54.6	64.3	69.0	72.2
	50%	52.1	71.1	87.2	97.5	106.3
	75%	62.6	86.5	109.3	126.8	141.4
	95%	83.7	118.4	153.9	193.0	217.2
	Mean	53.4	72.4	88.2	99.6	107.5
	Std Dev	15.9	24.5	33.7	43.1	51.5
	5%	31.2	38.8	43.0	44.7	42.4
ccsp650	25%	41.8	54.0	63.5	66.4	68.6
	50%	51.8	69.7	84.4	94.5	100.5
	75%	62.1	85.1	105.4	122.4	135.1
	95%	83.4	117.6	151.2	184.9	204.9
	Mean	53.2	70.9	84.9	93.9	97.9
	Std Dev	15.9	23.8	32.4	40.5	46.9
	5%	31.2	38.0	41.9	41.9	38.8
ccsp550	25%	41.6	52.8	61.5	63.0	62.5
	50%	51.6	68.4	81.1	89.9	92.2
	75%	62.1	83.7	100.9	116.3	122.9
	95%	82.3	114.7	142.2	168.2	187.7
	Mean	52.0	67.7	81.7	88.1	86.3
	Std Dev	15.2	22.6	31.1	38.1	41.2
	5%	31.0	36.8	40.2	38.8	32.0
ccsp450	25%	40.4	51.0	58.1	58.8	54.5
	50%	50.4	65.3	77.5	83.7	81.7
	75%	60.5	80.6	99.0	109.7	108.5
	95 %	79.9	109.1	139.3	158.6	160.1

 Table B10.
 Uncertainty in Ammonia Emissions for Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	6.8	13.3	20.3	52.3	147.9
	Std Dev	6.9	10.5	15.4	34.1	83.1
	5%	0.1	0.9	1.8	10.2	57.0
CCSP750	25%	1.7	4.6	8.3	29.2	92.1
	50%	4.9	11.7	17.6	45.8	128.4
	75%	9.8	18.8	29.1	66.8	181.0
	95%	19.1	32.6	48.6	111.8	309.3
	Mean	11.9	21.1	45.5	104.5	227.9
	Std Dev	9.3	13.0	23.7	54.2	117.1
	5%	1.2	3.3	14.2	39.4	88.3
CCSP650	25%	5.8	10.7	27.6	67.8	145.1
	50%	9.5	19.7	42.1	92.0	199.3
	75%	16.4	28.5	59.7	129.1	276.0
	95%	28.5	45.0	88.1	200.8	461.4
	Mean	24.6	52.4	132.6	271.3	579.7
	Std Dev	13.8	21.8	55.5	130.1	315.0
	5%	8.0	24.3	68.8	119.6	226.5
CCSP550	25%	14.9	35.1	92.7	184.3	373.3
	50%	21.5	48.9	120.1	244.2	486.9
	75%	32.3	66.9	163.8	324.9	697.3
	95%	49.7	89.6	222.0	509.6	1230.1
	Mean	71.0	174.3	425.8	886.1	1819.6
	Std Dev	20.4	47.7	174.6	446.8	948.6
	5%	44.0	113.1	240.7	388.6	684.3
CCSP450	25%	57.8	140.6	303.6	582.8	1176.7
	50%	66.7	167.8	393.7	785.5	1608.1
	75%	80.0	198.2	493.7	1061.0	2263.3
	95%	111.4	264.4	758.3	1821.9	3722.9

 Table B11. Mean, Standard Deviation, and Fractiles of Carbon Prices in Selected Years

		2020	2040	2060	2080	2100
	Mean	0.4	0.6	0.5	1.0	0.4
	Std Dev	3.3	3.5	1.2	1.7	7.9
	5%	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
CCSP750	25%	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.0
	50%	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.7	0.7
	75%	0.2	0.4	0.6	1.2	3.9
	95%	0.9	1.6	1.7	3.3	10.9
	Mean	0.5	1.0	1.0	2.3	4.4
	Std Dev	8.0	5.9	2.4	2.5	9.0
	5%	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.0
CCSP650	25%	0.1	0.1	0.3	1.0	1.6
	50%	0.2	0.3	0.6	1.7	4.7
	75%	0.4	0.6	1.1	2.6	8.5
	95%	1.5	2.4	2.8	6.6	16.3
	Mean	0.6	1.0	2.3	5.0	9.1
	Std Dev	2.5	1.9	2.3	4.0	10.7
	5%	0.0	0.1	0.5	1.5	0.0
CCSP550	25%	0.2	0.3	1.2	2.7	4.3
	50%	0.4	0.7	1.8	4.1	8.8
	75%	0.7	1.2	2.9	6.1	14.7
	95%	1.7	3.1	5.6	11.9	25.6
	Mean	1.4	2.3	5.4	8.8	14.4
	Std Dev	5.6	5.0	6.3	11.5	21.4
	5%	-0.7	-0.6	0.9	2.2	0.0
CCSP450	25%	0.2	0.6	2.8	4.8	7.5
	50%	1.0	1.8	4.6	7.5	14.5
	75%	1.8	3.2	7.3	12.3	23.0
	95%	4.3	6.5	13.1	21.9	39.4

 Table B12.
 Mean, Std.
 Deviation, and Fractiles of Welfare Losses (%) in Selected Years

- 1. Uncertainty in Climate Change Policy Analysis Jacoby & Prinn December 1994
- 2. Description and Validation of the MIT Version of the GISS 2D Model Sokolov & Stone June 1995
- 3. Responses of Primary Production and Carbon Storage to Changes in Climate and Atmospheric CO₂ Concentration Xiao et al. October 1995
- 4. Application of the Probabilistic Collocation Method for an Uncertainty Analysis Webster et al. January 1996
- 5. World Energy Consumption and CO₂ Emissions: 1950-2050 Schmalensee et al. April 1996
- 6. The MIT Emission Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model Yang et al. May 1996 (superseded by No. 125)
- 7. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Analysis Prinn et al. June 1996 (<u>superseded</u> by No. 124)
- 8. Relative Roles of Changes in CO₂ and Climate to Equilibrium Responses of Net Primary Production and Carbon Storage Xiao et al. June 1996
- 9. CO₂ Emissions Limits: Economic Adjustments and the Distribution of Burdens Jacoby et al. July 1997
- 10. Modeling the Emissions of N₂O and CH₄ from the Terrestrial Biosphere to the Atmosphere Liu Aug. 1996
- 11. Global Warming Projections: Sensitivity to Deep Ocean Mixing Sokolov & Stone September 1996
- 12. Net Primary Production of Ecosystems in China and its Equilibrium Responses to Climate Changes Xiao et al. November 1996
- 13. Greenhouse Policy Architectures and Institutions Schmalensee November 1996
- 14. What Does Stabilizing Greenhouse Gas Concentrations Mean? Jacoby et al. November 1996
- **15. Economic Assessment of CO₂ Capture and Disposal** *Eckaus et al.* December 1996
- **16**. What Drives Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon? *Pfaff* December 1996
- 17. A Flexible Climate Model For Use In Integrated Assessments Sokolov & Stone March 1997
- 18. Transient Climate Change and Potential Croplands of the World in the 21st Century *Xiao et al.* May 1997
- **19. Joint Implementation:** Lessons from Title IV's Voluntary Compliance Programs Atkeson June 1997
- 20. Parameterization of Urban Subgrid Scale Processes in Global Atm. Chemistry Models *Calbo* et al. July 1997
- 21. Needed: A Realistic Strategy for Global Warming Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee August 1997
- 22. Same Science, Differing Policies; The Saga of Global Climate Change Skolnikoff August 1997
- 23. Uncertainty in the Oceanic Heat and Carbon Uptake and their Impact on Climate Projections Sokolov et al. September 1997
- 24. A Global Interactive Chemistry and Climate Model Wang, Prinn & Sokolov September 1997
- 25. Interactions Among Emissions, Atmospheric Chemistry & Climate Change Wang & Prinn Sept. 1997
- 26. Necessary Conditions for Stabilization Agreements Yang & Jacoby October 1997
- 27. Annex I Differentiation Proposals: Implications for Welfare, Equity and Policy Reiner & Jacoby Oct. 1997

- 28. Transient Climate Change and Net Ecosystem Production of the Terrestrial Biosphere Xiao et al. November 1997
- 29. Analysis of CO₂ Emissions from Fossil Fuel in Korea: 1961–1994 Choi November 1997
- 30. Uncertainty in Future Carbon Emissions: A Preliminary Exploration Webster November 1997
- 31. Beyond Emissions Paths: Rethinking the Climate Impacts of Emissions Protocols Webster & Reiner November 1997
- 32. Kyoto's Unfinished Business Jacoby et al. June 1998
- 33. Economic Development and the Structure of the Demand for Commercial Energy Judson et al. April 1998
- 34. Combined Effects of Anthropogenic Emissions and Resultant Climatic Changes on Atmospheric OH Wang & Prinn April 1998
- 35. Impact of Emissions, Chemistry, and Climate on Atmospheric Carbon Monoxide Wang & Prinn April 1998
- **36. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Assessment:** *Feedbacks and Sensitivity Studies Prinn et al.* June 1998
- 37. Quantifying the Uncertainty in Climate Predictions Webster & Sokolov July 1998
- 38. Sequential Climate Decisions Under Uncertainty: An Integrated Framework Valverde et al. September 1998
- 39. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ (Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Analysis) Holian Oct. 1998 (superseded by No. 80)
- 40. Analysis of Post-Kyoto CO₂ Emissions Trading Using Marginal Abatement Curves Ellerman & Decaux Oct. 1998
- 41. The Effects on Developing Countries of the Kyoto Protocol and CO₂ Emissions Trading Ellerman et al. November 1998
- 42. Obstacles to Global CO₂ Trading: A Familiar Problem Ellerman November 1998
- 43. The Uses and Misuses of Technology Development as a Component of Climate Policy Jacoby November 1998
- 44. Primary Aluminum Production: Climate Policy, Emissions and Costs Harnisch et al. December 1998
- **45**. **Multi-Gas Assessment of the Kyoto Protocol** *Reilly et al.* January 1999
- 46. From Science to Policy: The Science-Related Politics of Climate Change Policy in the U.S. Skolnikoff January 1999
- 47. Constraining Uncertainties in Climate Models Using Climate Change Detection Techniques Forest et al. April 1999
- 48. Adjusting to Policy Expectations in Climate Change Modeling Shackley et al. May 1999
- 49. Toward a Useful Architecture for Climate Change Negotiations Jacoby et al. May 1999
- 50. A Study of the Effects of Natural Fertility, Weather and Productive Inputs in Chinese Agriculture Eckaus & Tso July 1999
- 51. Japanese Nuclear Power and the Kyoto Agreement Babiker, Reilly & Ellerman August 1999
- 52. Interactive Chemistry and Climate Models in Global Change Studies *Wang & Prinn* September 1999
- 53. Developing Country Effects of Kyoto-Type Emissions Restrictions Babiker & Jacoby October 1999

- 54. Model Estimates of the Mass Balance of the Greenland and Antarctic Ice Sheets Bugnion Oct 1999
- 55. Changes in Sea-Level Associated with Modifications of Ice Sheets over 21st Century Bugnion October 1999
- 56. The Kyoto Protocol and Developing Countries Babiker et al. October 1999
- **57. Can EPA Regulate Greenhouse Gases Before the Senate Ratifies the Kyoto Protocol?** *Bugnion & Reiner* November 1999
- 58. Multiple Gas Control Under the Kyoto Agreement Reilly, Mayer & Harnisch March 2000
- **59. Supplementarity:** *An Invitation for Monopsony? Ellerman & Sue Wing* April 2000
- 60. A Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean Model of Intermediate Complexity Kamenkovich et al. May 2000
- 61. Effects of Differentiating Climate Policy by Sector: A U.S. Example Babiker et al. May 2000
- 62. Constraining Climate Model Properties Using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods Forest et al. May 2000
- 63. Linking Local Air Pollution to Global Chemistry and Climate Mayer et al. June 2000
- 64. The Effects of Changing Consumption Patterns on the Costs of Emission Restrictions Lahiri et al. Aug 2000
- 65. Rethinking the Kyoto Emissions Targets Babiker & Eckaus August 2000
- 66. Fair Trade and Harmonization of Climate Change Policies in Europe *Viguier* September 2000
- 67. The Curious Role of "Learning" in Climate Policy: Should We Wait for More Data? Webster October 2000
- 68. How to Think About Human Influence on Climate Forest, Stone & Jacoby October 2000
- 69. Tradable Permits for Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A primer with reference to Europe Ellerman Nov 2000
- 70. Carbon Emissions and The Kyoto Commitment in the European Union *Viguier et al.* February 2001
- 71. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis Model: Revisions, Sensitivities and Results Babiker et al. February 2001 (superseded by No. 125)
- 72. Cap and Trade Policies in the Presence of Monopoly and Distortionary Taxation Fullerton & Metcalf March '01
- 73. Uncertainty Analysis of Global Climate Change Projections Webster et al. Mar. '01 (superseded by No. 95)
- 74. The Welfare Costs of Hybrid Carbon Policies in the European Union Babiker et al. June 2001
- 75. Feedbacks Affecting the Response of the Thermohaline Circulation to Increasing CO₂ Kamenkovich et al. July 2001
- 76. CO₂ Abatement by Multi-fueled Electric Utilities: An Analysis Based on Japanese Data Ellerman & Tsukada July 2001
- 77. Comparing Greenhouse Gases Reilly et al. July 2001
- 78. Quantifying Uncertainties in Climate System Properties using Recent Climate Observations Forest et al. July 2001
- 79. Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models Webster et al. August 2001

- **80. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ Predictions from a Global Ocean Carbon Cycle Model** *Holian et al.* September 2001
- 81. A Comparison of the Behavior of AO GCMs in Transient Climate Change Experiments Sokolov et al. December 2001
- 82. The Evolution of a Climate Regime: Kyoto to Marrakech Babiker, Jacoby & Reiner February 2002
- 83. The "Safety Valve" and Climate Policy Jacoby & Ellerman February 2002
- 84. A Modeling Study on the Climate Impacts of Black Carbon Aerosols *Wang* March 2002
- **85. Tax Distortions and Global Climate Policy** *Babiker et al.* May 2002
- 86. Incentive-based Approaches for Mitigating Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Issues and Prospects for India Gupta June 2002
- 87. Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in an Ocean GCM with Idealized Geometry Huang, Stone & Hill September 2002
- 88. The Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in Transient Climate Change Huang et al. September 2002
- 89. Representing Energy Technologies in Top-down Economic Models using Bottom-up Information McFarland et al. October 2002
- 90. Ozone Effects on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration in the U.S. Using a Biogeochemistry Model Felzer et al. November 2002
- 91. Exclusionary Manipulation of Carbon Permit Markets: A Laboratory Test Carlén November 2002
- 92. An Issue of Permanence: Assessing the Effectiveness of Temporary Carbon Storage Herzog et al. December 2002
- **93**. Is International Emissions Trading Always Beneficial? Babiker et al. December 2002
- 94. Modeling Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gas Abatement Hyman et al. December 2002
- 95. Uncertainty Analysis of Climate Change and Policy Response Webster et al. December 2002
- 96. Market Power in International Carbon Emissions Trading: A Laboratory Test Carlén January 2003
- 97. Emissions Trading to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the United States: The McCain-Lieberman Proposal Paltsev et al. June 2003
- 98. Russia's Role in the Kyoto Protocol Bernard et al. Jun '03
- 99. Thermohaline Circulation Stability: A Box Model Study Lucarini & Stone June 2003
- **100. Absolute vs. Intensity-Based Emissions Caps** Ellerman & Sue Wing July 2003
- 101. Technology Detail in a Multi-Sector CGE Model: Transport Under Climate Policy Schafer & Jacoby July 2003
- **102. Induced Technical Change and the Cost of Climate Policy** *Sue Wing* September 2003
- 103. Past and Future Effects of Ozone on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration Using a Global Biogeochemical Model *Felzer et al.* (revised) January 2004
- 104. A Modeling Analysis of Methane Exchanges Between Alaskan Ecosystems and the Atmosphere Zhuang et al. November 2003

- 105. Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint Hashimoto January 2004
- 106. Climate Prediction: The Limits of Ocean Models Stone February 2004
- **107. Informing Climate Policy Given Incommensurable Benefits Estimates** *Jacoby* February 2004
- 108. Methane Fluxes Between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere at High Latitudes During the Past Century Zhuang et al. March 2004
- **109. Sensitivity of Climate to Diapycnal Diffusivity in the Ocean** *Dalan et al.* May 2004
- **110**. **Stabilization and Global Climate Policy** *Sarofim et al.* July 2004
- 111. Technology and Technical Change in the MIT EPPA Model Jacoby et al. July 2004
- 112. The Cost of Kyoto Protocol Targets: The Case of Japan Paltsev et al. July 2004
- 113. Economic Benefits of Air Pollution Regulation in the USA: An Integrated Approach Yang et al. (revised) Jan. 2005
- 114. The Role of Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gases in Climate Policy: Analysis Using the MIT IGSM Reilly et al. Aug. '04
- 115. Future U.S. Energy Security Concerns Deutch Sep. '04
- 116. Explaining Long-Run Changes in the Energy Intensity of the U.S. Economy Sue Wing Sept. 2004
- 117. Modeling the Transport Sector: The Role of Existing Fuel Taxes in Climate Policy Paltsev et al. November 2004
- **118. Effects of Air Pollution Control on Climate** *Prinn et al.* January 2005
- 119. Does Model Sensitivity to Changes in CO₂ Provide a Measure of Sensitivity to the Forcing of Different Nature? Sokolov March 2005
- 120. What Should the Government Do To Encourage Technical Change in the Energy Sector? Deutch May '05
- 121. Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan Kasahara et al. May 2005
- 122. A 3D Ocean-Seaice-Carbon Cycle Model and its Coupling to a 2D Atmospheric Model: Uses in Climate Change Studies Dutkiewicz et al. (revised) November 2005
- 123. Simulating the Spatial Distribution of Population and Emissions to 2100 Asadoorian May 2005
- 124. MIT Integrated Global System Model (IGSM) Version 2: Model Description and Baseline Evaluation Sokolov et al. July 2005
- 125. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4 Paltsev et al. August 2005
- 126. Estimated PDFs of Climate System Properties Including Natural and Anthropogenic Forcings Forest et al. September 2005
- 127. An Analysis of the European Emission Trading Scheme Reilly & Paltsev October 2005
- 128. Evaluating the Use of Ocean Models of Different Complexity in Climate Change Studies Sokolov et al. November 2005
- **129.** *Future* Carbon Regulations and *Current* Investments in Alternative Coal-Fired Power Plant Designs *Sekar et al.* December 2005

- **130. Absolute vs. Intensity Limits for CO₂ Emission Control:** *Performance Under Uncertainty Sue Wing et al.* January 2006
- 131. The Economic Impacts of Climate Change: Evidence from Agricultural Profits and Random Fluctuations in Weather Deschenes & Greenstone January 2006
- 132. The Value of Emissions Trading Webster et al. Feb. 2006
- 133. Estimating Probability Distributions from Complex Models with Bifurcations: The Case of Ocean Circulation Collapse Webster et al. March 2006
- **134**. Directed Technical Change and Climate Policy Otto et al. April 2006
- 135. Modeling Climate Feedbacks to Energy Demand: The Case of China Asadoorian et al. June 2006
- 136. Bringing Transportation into a Cap-and-Trade Regime Ellerman, Jacoby & Zimmerman June 2006
- **137. Unemployment Effects of Climate Policy** *Babiker & Eckaus* July 2006
- **138. Energy Conservation in the United States:** Understanding its Role in Climate Policy Metcalf Aug. '06
- 139. Directed Technical Change and the Adoption of CO₂ Abatement Technology: The Case of CO₂ Capture and Storage Otto & Reilly August 2006
- 140. The Allocation of European Union Allowances: Lessons, Unifying Themes and General Principles Buchner et al. October 2006
- 141. Over-Allocation or Abatement? A preliminary analysis of the EU ETS based on the 2006 emissions data Ellerman & Buchner December 2006
- 142. Federal Tax Policy Towards Energy Metcalf Jan. 2007
- 143. Technical Change, Investment and Energy Intensity Kratena March 2007
- 144. Heavier Crude, Changing Demand for Petroleum Fuels, Regional Climate Policy, and the Location of Upgrading Capacity *Reilly et al.* April 2007
- 145. Biomass Energy and Competition for Land Reilly & Paltsev April 2007
- 146. Assessment of U.S. Cap-and-Trade Proposals Paltsev et al. April 2007
- 147. A Global Land System Framework for Integrated Climate-Change Assessments Schlosser et al. May 2007
- 148. Relative Roles of Climate Sensitivity and Forcing in Defining the Ocean Circulation Response to Climate Change Scott et al. May 2007
- 149. Global Economic Effects of Changes in Crops, Pasture, and Forests due to Changing Climate, CO₂ and Ozone *Reilly et al.* May 2007
- **150. U.S. GHG Cap-and-Trade Proposals:** Application of a Forward-Looking Computable General Equilibrium Model Gurgel et al. June 2007
- 151. Consequences of Considering Carbon/Nitrogen Interactions on the Feedbacks between Climate and the Terrestrial Carbon Cycle *Sokolov et al.* June 2007
- **152. Energy Scenarios for East Asia: 2005-2025** *Paltsev & Reilly* July 2007
- **153. Climate Change, Mortality, and Adaptation:** *Evidence from Annual Fluctuations in Weather in the U.S. Deschênes & Greenstone* August 2007

- **154. Modeling the Prospects for Hydrogen Powered Transportation Through 2100** *Sandoval et al.* February 2008
- **155. Potential Land Use Implications of a Global Biofuels Industry** *Gurgel et al.* March 2008
- **156. Estimating the Economic Cost of Sea-Level Rise** Sugiyama et al. April 2008
- 157. Constraining Climate Model Parameters from Observed 20th Century Changes Forest et al. April 2008
- **158. Analysis of the Coal Sector under Carbon Constraints** *McFarland et al.* April 2008
- 159. Impact of Sulfur and Carbonaceous Emissions from International Shipping on Aerosol Distributions and Direct Radiative Forcing Wang & Kim April 2008
- **160. Analysis of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Tax Proposals** *Metcalf et al.* April 2008
- 161. A Forward Looking Version of the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model Babiker et al. May 2008
- **162. The European Carbon Market in Action:** *Lessons from the first trading period* Interim Report *Convery, Ellerman, & de Perthuis* June 2008
- 163. The Influence on Climate Change of Differing Scenarios for Future Development Analyzed Using the MIT Integrated Global System Model Prinn et al. September 2008
- 164. Marginal Abatement Costs and Marginal Welfare Costs for Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reductions: *Results from the EPPA Model* Holak et al. November 2008
- **165. Uncertainty in Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Costs** of Atmospheric Stabilization *Webster et al.* November 2008